Notice of Meeting

Southern Area
Planning Committee
Date:

Tuesday 23 November 2021

Time:

5.30 pm

Venue:

Main Hall, Crosfield Hall, Broadwater Road, Romsey, Hampshire,
SO51 8GL

For further information or enquiries please contact:
Caroline Lovelock - 01264 368014
clovelock@testvalley.gov.uk

Legal and Democratic Service
Test Valley Borough Council,
Beech Hurst, Weyhill Road,
Andover, Hampshire,
SP10 3AJ
www.testvalley.gov.uk

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION SCHEME
If members of the public wish to address the meeting they should notify the
Legal and Democratic Service at the Council's Beech Hurst office by noon
on the working day before the meeting.

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Membership of Southern Area Planning Committee
MEMBER

WARD

Councillor M Cooper (Chairman)

Romsey Tadburn

Councillor M Hatley (Vice-Chairman)

Ampfield & Braishfield

Councillor G Bailey

Blackwater

Councillor P Bundy

Chilworth, Nursling & Rownhams

Councillor J Burnage

Romsey Cupernham

Councillor A Dowden

Valley Park

Councillor C Dowden

North Baddesley

Councillor S Gidley

Romsey Abbey

Councillor I Jeffrey

Mid Test

Councillor M Maltby

Chilworth, Nursling & Rownhams

Councillor J Parker

Romsey Tadburn

Councillor A Ward

Mid Test

Councillor A Warnes

North Baddesley

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Southern Area Planning Committee
Tuesday 23 November 2021
AGENDA
The order of these items may change as a result of members
of the public wishing to speak

1

Apologies

2

Public Participation

3

Declarations of Interest

4

Urgent Items

5

Minutes of the meeting held on 2 November 2021

6

Information Notes

5 - 10

7

21/00462/FULLS - 15.02.2021

11 - 22

(OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION)
SITE: Marlbrook, Julian Close, Chilworth, SO16 7HR
CHILWORTH
CASE OFFICER: Mr Gregory Anderson
8

21/01118/FULLS - 29.04.2021

23 - 40

(OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION)
SITE: Southerly, The Ring, Chilworth, SO16 7HW
CHILWORTH
CASE OFFICER: Mr Gregory Anderson
9

21/01527/FULLS - 20.05.2021
(OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION)
SITE: 91-93 Bath House, Middlebridge Street, Romsey,
SO51 8HJ ROMSEY TOWN
CASE OFFICER: Miss Ash James

41 - 51

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

10

21/01528/LBWS - 20.05.2021

52 - 60

(OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: CONSENT)
SITE: 91-93 Bath House, Middlebridge Street, Romsey,
SO51 8HJ ROMSEY TOWN
CASE OFFICER: Miss Ash James
11

21/02530/FULLS - 27.08.2021

61 - 71

(OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION)
SITE: 20 The Harrage, Romsey, SO51 8AE ROMSEY
TOWN
CASE OFFICER: Mr Gregory Anderson
12

21/02904/FULLS - 05.10.2021

72 - 87

(OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: REFUSE)
SITE: Warblers Cottage, Chapel Lane, Timsbury,
SO51 0NW MICHELMERSH AND TIMSBURY
CASE OFFICER: Ms Kate Levey
13

21/02905/LBWS - 05.10.2021
(OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: REFUSE)
SITE: Warblers Cottage, Chapel Lane, Timsbury,
SO51 0NW MICHELMERSH AND TIMSBURY
CASE OFFICER: Ms Kate Levey

88 - 100

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

ITEM 6

TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL
SOUTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE
INFORMATION NOTES

Availability of Background Papers
Background papers may be inspected up to five working days before the date of the
Committee meeting and for four years thereafter. Requests to inspect the
background papers, most of which will be on the application file, should be made to
the case officer named in the report or to the Development Manager. Although there
is no legal provision for inspection of the application file before the report is placed
on the agenda for the meeting, an earlier inspection may be agreed on application to
the Head of Planning and Building.
Reasons for Committee Consideration
The majority of applications are determined by the Head of Planning and Building in
accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation which is set out in the Council’s
Constitution. However, some applications are determined at the Area Planning
Committees and this will happen if any of the following reasons apply:
(a) Applications which are contrary to the provisions of an approved or draft
development plan or other statement of approved planning policy where
adverse representations have been received and which is recommended
for approval.
(b) Applications (excluding notifications) where a Member requests in writing,
with reasons and within the Application Publicity Expiry Date, that they be
submitted to Committee. A Member can withdraw this request at any time
prior to the determination of the application to enable its determination under
delegated powers.
(c) Applications submitted by or on behalf of the Council, or any company in
which the Council holds an interest, for its own developments except for the
approval of minor developments.
(d) Applications where the Head of Planning and Building Services recommends
refusal of an application solely on the basis of failure to achieve nutrient
neutrality where a Ward Member requests in writing, with reasons, within 72
hours of notification of the recommendation for refusal that they be submitted
to Committee for determination. A Member can withdraw this request at any
time prior to the determination of the application to enable its determination
under delegated powers.
(e) To determine applications (excluding applications for advertisement consent,
certificates of lawfulness, listed building consent, and applications resulting
from the withdrawal by condition of domestic permitted development rights;

Page 5

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes B, C, D, E, F, G, and H of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 or as
amended) on which a material planning objection(s) has been received within
the Application Publicity Expiry Date and which cannot be resolved by
negotiation or through the imposition of conditions and where the officer’s
recommendation is for approval, following consultation with the Ward
Members, the latter having the right to request that the application be
reported to Committee for decision.
Public Speaking at the Meeting
The Council has a public participation scheme, which invites members of the public,
Parish Council representatives and applicants to address the Committee on
applications. Full details of the scheme are available from Planning and Building
Services or from Democratic Services at the Council Offices, Beech Hurst, Weyhill
Road, Andover. Copies are usually sent to all those who have made
representations. Anyone wishing to speak must book with the Democratic Services
within the stipulated time period otherwise they will not be allowed to address the
Committee.
Speakers are limited to a total of three minutes per item for Councillors on the Area
Committee who have personal interests or where a Member has pre-determined
his/her position on the relevant application, three minutes for the Parish Council,
three minutes for all objectors, three minutes for all supporters and three minutes for
the applicant/agent and relevant Ward Members who are not Committee Members
will have a maximum of five minutes. Where there are multiple supporters or
multiple objectors wishing to speak the Chairman may limit individual speakers to
less than three minutes with a view to accommodating multiple speakers within the
three minute time limit. Speakers may be asked questions by the Members of the
Committee, but are not permitted to ask questions of others or to join in the debate.
Speakers are not permitted to circulate or display plans, photographs, illustrations or
textual material during the Committee meeting as any such material should be sent
to the Members and officers in advance of the meeting to allow them time to
consider the content.
Content of Officer’s Report
It should be noted that the Officer’s report will endeavour to include a summary of the
relevant site characteristics, site history, policy issues, consultations carried out with
both internal and external consultees and the public and then seek to make a
professional judgement as to whether permission should be granted. However, the
officer’s report will usually summarise many of the issues, particularly consultations
received from consultees and the public, and anyone wishing to see the full
response must ask to consult the application file.

Page 6

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Status of Officer’s Recommendations and Committee’s Decisions
The recommendations contained in this report are made by the officers at the time
the report was prepared. A different recommendation may be made at the meeting
should circumstances change and the officer’s recommendations may not be
accepted by the Committee.
In order to facilitate debate in relation to an application, the Chairman will move the
officer’s recommendations in the report, which will be seconded by the Vice
Chairman. Motions are debated by the Committee in accordance with the Council’s
Rules of Procedure. A binding decision is made only when the Committee has
formally considered and voted in favour of a motion in relation to the application and,
pursuant to that resolution, the decision notice has subsequently been issued by the
Council.
Conditions and Reasons for Refusal
Suggested reasons for refusal and any conditions are set out in full in the officer’s
recommendation.
Officers or the Committee may add further reasons for refusal or conditions during
the Committee meeting and Members may choose to refuse an application
recommended for permission by the Officers or to permit an application
recommended for refusal. In all cases, clear reasons will be given, by whoever is
promoting the new condition or reason for refusal, to explain why the change is being
made.
Decisions subject to Completion of a Planning Obligation
For some applications, a resolution is passed to grant planning permission subject to
the completion of an appropriate planning obligation (often referred to as a Section
106 agreement). The obligation can restrict development or the use of the land,
require operations or activities to be carried out, require the land to be used in a
specified way or require payments to be made to the authority.
New developments will usually be required to contribute towards the infrastructure
required to serve a site and to cater for additional demand created by any new
development and its future occupants. Typically, such requirements include
contributions to community facilities, village halls, parks and play areas, playing
fields and improvements to roads, footpaths, cycleways and public transport.
Upon completion of the obligation, the Head of Planning and Building is delegated to
grant permission subject to the listed conditions. However, it should be noted that
the obligation usually has to be completed sufficiently in advance of the planning
application determination date to allow the application to be issued. If this does not
happen, the application may be refused for not resolving the issues required within
the timescale set to deal with the application.

Page 7

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Deferred Applications
Applications may not be decided at the meeting for a number of reasons as follows:
*

The applicant may choose to withdraw the application. No further action
would be taken on that proposal and the file is closed.

*

Officers may recommend deferral because the information requested or
amended plans have not been approved or there is insufficient time for
consultation on amendments.

*

The Committee may resolve to seek additional information or amendments.

*

The Committee may resolve to visit the site to assess the effect of the
proposal on matters that are not clear from the plans or from the report.
These site visits are not public meetings.

Visual Display of Plans and Photographs
Plans are included in the officers’ reports in order to identify the site and its
surroundings. The location plan will normally be the most up-to-date available from
Ordnance Survey and to scale. The other plans are not a complete copy of the
application plans and may not be to scale, particularly when they have been reduced
from large size paper plans. If further information is needed or these plans are
unclear please refer to the submitted application on the Council’s website. Plans
displayed at the meeting to assist the Members may include material additional to
the written reports.
Photographs are used to illustrate particular points on most of the items and the
officers usually take these. Photographs submitted in advance by applicants or
objectors may be used at the discretion of the officers.
Human Rights
The European Convention on Human Rights” (“ECHR”) was brought into English
Law, via the Human Rights Act 1998 (“HRA”), as from October 2000.
The HRA introduces an obligation on the Council to act consistently with the ECHR.
There are 2 Convention Rights likely to be most relevant to Planning Decisions:
*

Article 1 of the 1st Protocol - The Right to the Enjoyment of Property.

*

Article 8 - Right for Respect for Home, Privacy and Family Life.

It is important to note that these types of right are not unlimited - although in
accordance with the EU concept of “proportionality”, any interference with these
rights must be sanctioned by Law (e.g. by the Town & Country Planning Acts) and
must go no further than necessary.

Page 8

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Essentially, private interests must be weighed against the wider public interest and
against competing private interests. Such a balancing exercise is already implicit in
the decision making processes of the Committee. However, Members must
specifically bear Human Rights issues in mind when reaching decisions on all
planning applications and enforcement action.
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC)
The Council has a duty under the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act
2006 as follows: "every public authority must, in exercising its functions, have regard,
so far as is consistent with the proper exercise of those functions, to the purpose of
conserving biodiversity".
It is considered that this duty has been properly addressed within the process
leading up to the formulation of the policies in the Revised Local Plan. Further
regard is had in relation to specific planning applications through completion of the
biodiversity checklists for validation, scoping and/or submission of Environmental
Statements and any statutory consultations with relevant conservation bodies on
biodiversity aspects of the proposals. Provided any recommendations arising from
these processes are conditioned as part of any grant of planning permission (or
included in reasons for refusal of any planning application) then the duty to ensure
that biodiversity interest has been conserved, as far as practically possible, will be
considered to have been met.
Other Legislation
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that
determination of applications be made in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan for the
Borough comprises the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016), and ‘made’
Neighbourhood Plans. Material considerations are defined by Case Law and
includes, amongst other things, draft Development Plan Documents (DPD),
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) and other relevant guidance including
Development Briefs, Government advice, amenity considerations, crime and
community safety, traffic generation and safety.
On the 19th February 2019 the Government published a revised National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF). The revised NPPF replaced and superseded the previous
NPPF published in 2018. The revised NPPF is a material consideration in planning
decisions.
So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the heart of the
revised NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. Decisions
should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This does not
change the statutory status of the development plan as a starting point for decision
making. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Where a planning application conflicts with an up to date
development plan, permission should not usually be granted. Local planning
authorities may take decisions which depart from an up to date development plan,

Page 9

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

but only if material considerations in a particular case indicate that the plan should
not be followed.
For decision-taking, applying the presumption in favour of sustainable development
means:



Approving development proposals that accord with an up to date development
plan without delay; or
Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which
are most important for determining the application are out of date, granting
permission unless:
o The application of policies in the revised NPPF that protect areas or assets
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the
development proposed; or
o Any adverse impact of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the revised
NPPF when taken as a whole.

Existing Local Plan policies should not be considered out of date because they were
adopted prior to the publication of the revised NPPF. Due weight should be given to
them, according to their degree of consistency with the revised NPPF (the closer the
policies in the Local Plan to the policies in the revised NPPF, the greater the weight
that may be given).

Page 10

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

ITEM 7

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL
AMENDMENTS
CASE OFFICER

21/00462/FULLS
FULL APPLICATION - SOUTH
15.02.2021
Mr and Mrs Hill
Marlbrook, Julian Close, Chilworth, SO16 7HR,
CHILWORTH
Proposed loft conversion, to accommodate 2
additional bedrooms
Mr Gregory Anderson

Background paper (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application is presented to Southern Area Planning Committee at the
request of a member.
2.0 HISTORY
2.1 TVS.369 Extension and replacement double garage and utility room Marlbrook, Julian Close, Chilworth. Permission 14.11.1974.
2.2 TVS.00369/1 - Erection of first floor side extension over existing garage to
provide extended living accommodation. Permission subject to conditions 04.12.1997.
2.3 TVS.00369/2 - Retention of entrance gates with brick piers. Permission subject
to conditions - 29.11.1998.
2.4 TVS.00369/3 - Erection of a two storey side extension, and first floor extension
over existing rear facing lounge, and the erection of a covered walkway at the
rear. Permission subject to conditions - 19.04.2001.
2.5 TVS.00369/4 - Formation of swimming pool with glazed telescopic retractable
canopy to rear of property. Permission subject to conditions - 24.10.2001.
2.6 TVS.00369/5 - Formation of swimming pool with glazed retractable roof to rear
of property (Revised scheme to that previously approved under TVS.00369/4).
Permission subject to conditions - 21.06.2002.
2.7 07/01454/FULLS - Erection of garage extension and porch to kitchen door,
replacement porch to main entrance door on north elevation and addition of
window to east elevation. Permission subject to conditions - 09.07.2007.
2.8 20/02934/FULLS - Loft conversion consisting of 6 dormer windows and raising
the ridge line of the principal dwelling. Withdrawn - 13.01.2021.

Page 11

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

3.0
3.1

CONSULTATIONS
TVBC Ecology – No objection (subject to conditions)

3.2

TVBC Trees – No objection (subject to conditions)
 The proposal appears to be located mainly within the existing house
footprint, distant from most important mature trees. However, access to
undertake the works will require use of the property frontage which is
close to a good quality cedar. It is likely that material storage and space
will be required for working so precautions to avoid damage to this tree
should be undertaken.


In terms of future occupancy concerns, the proposed alterations do not
bring occupied spaces significantly closer to the cedar on the frontage,
or trees along the rear boundary than existing habitable rooms. These
trees will be no more significant in blocking sunlight to the dwelling after
the development than before, in obstructing skylight or in being unduly
dominant. I do not believe this proposal is likely to bring new pressures
on the tree.

4.0
4.1

REPRESENTATIONS Expired 30.07.2021
Chilworth Parish Council – Objection
 The windows shown in the south facing second floor elevation are not of
a “velux style” flat roof dormers. This is confirmed by the associated
floor plan that shows the windows facing forward. In addition, the largest
of these proposed new windows exhibit the appearance of doors with a
balcony in front. However, the appearance is not defined and further
details are required.
 The proposals are not in accordance with Policy E4(b) of the Local Plan.
The proposed size, setting, layout and design is not compatible with the
character of this residential area.
 The proposed six bedroomed house is a serious over development on a
plot measuring 0.37 acres.
 The proposed second floor raises the height of the house above an
acceptable rise in the ridge line.

4.2

Sun Corner – Objection
 The smaller velux type windows do not deal with the overriding
objection that the new height is out of all proportion to the rise in the
ridge line.
 The rear elevation is unchanged from the previous application, the only
difference being a move of the Juliet balcony.
 The proposal appears to offend Policy E4b) of the Local Plan as the
proposed development’s size, setting, layout and design are not, in my
opinion, compatible with the character of this residential area.
 The proposal seems to be entirely out of character, compared with the
existing houses in Julian Close, which are either3 or 4 bedroomed
houses set in a quiet and residential Close. They appear to result in a
major point of focus in the Close.
 I ask you to consider whether the proposed six bedroomed house is a
serious over development of this plot.

Page 12

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021



Loss of privacy – the second floor appears to allow an unacceptable
view over private houses and gardens in the Close.

4.3

The Cottage – Objection
 Whilst I continue to have no objection to the concept of a third storey
development, I strongly believe it should be within the existing
dimensions of the property as raising the height of the property makes it
ever more dominant within the Close (this property is already the
physically largest dwelling in the Close having benefitted from numerous
enlargements).
 The proposed raised ridge height changes the natural ‘flow’ described
by the surrounding properties’ ridge lines and yet again impacts the
visual aspect towards the Golf Course from the Close by this property.
 In the process of submitting an Application to TVBC to develop a third
storey of my property as part of a larger schedule of works a few years
ago, it was explicitly commented that I retain the overall roof level and
work within the existing height of my home to minimise the impact on
the visual amenity of the Close. We agreed with the reasoning,
complied with the Council’s directive and the Council gave its Consent.
 Also, I was advised not to make any other enlargement to my home that
in any way impacted the ‘street-view’ towards the Golf Course.
Marlbrook however completely blocks the view around its land due to
past developments (it ‘touches’ both boundary sides) and this will be
aggravated by raising the height.
 Additionally, I believe that the third storey windows should solely be
placed to the rear of the property, this would again avoid making the
property appear ever more dominant in its location within the Close.
Whilst accepting that this revised Application has a reduced forwardfacing glass area with the style changed to a ‘Velux’ rather than the
previous protruding ‘dormer’, my concern remains.
 Again, when I submitted the Application to develop a third storey of my
property, it was explicitly commented that there should not be any
forward-facing windows. We again totally understood and agreed with
the comments, submitted appropriate plans and the Council gave its
Consent.

5.0
5.1

POLICY
Government Guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

5.2

Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)(TVBRLP)
Policy SD1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Policy COM2 – Settlement Hierarchy
Policy E1 – High Quality Development in the Borough
Policy E2 – Protect, Conserve and Enhance the Landscape Character of the
Borough
Policy E4 – Residential Areas of Special Character
Policy E5 – Biodiversity

Page 13

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Policy LHW4 – Amenity
Policy T2 – Parking Standards
5.3

Supplementary Planning Document
Chilworth Village Design Statement
Residential Areas of Special Character (RASC) Appraisals – Chilworth (June
2017)
Residential Areas of Special Character SPD (January 2019)

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main planning considerations are:
 Principle of development
 Impact on the character and appearance of the area
 Impact on amenity of neighbouring property
 Impact on trees
 Impact on ecology
 Impact on parking provision

6.2

Principle of development
The sites lies within the settlement boundary of Chilworth as defined on the
Inset Maps of the TVBRLP. In accordance with Policy COM2 of the TVBRLP
development is permitted provided the proposal is appropriate to other policies
of the Revised Local Plan. The proposal is assessed against relevant policies
below.

6.3

Impact on the character and appearance of the area
The development comprises raising the ridge height of the dwelling to
accommodate a loft conversion for two additional bedrooms, the installation of
three velux windows to the front elevation and three dormer windows to the
rear elevation. The application site consists of a large detached property set on
a sizeable plot which is set below the neighbouring dwellings to the north west
by the natural slope of Julian Close. The site is surrounded by other large
detached dwellings.

6.4

Representations have been received raising objection to the size and design of
the proposal and that the works would constitute overdevelopment of the plot
and would not be in accordance with Policy E4. These comments are
addressed below.

6.5

The proposal will raise the existing ridge height of the dwelling by
approximately 1.5 metres with three velux windows installed to the north
elevation and 3 dormer windows to the south elevation. Given that the
application site is already set below the dwellings to the north west, it is not
considered the proposed new ridge height would result in a dwelling that is out
of scale for the area. Furthermore, the hipped design of the roof will help to
reduce the bulk and mass of the extension so should not result in a structure
that will dominate the Close. This is a re-submission of a previous application
which proposed dormer windows to the front elevation, it is considered that the
change to velux windows is an improvement to the design. Given that velux
windows are already present on the dwelling, these additions would be more

Page 14

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

subtle and would allow the dwelling to better integrate with the character of the
area. The dormer windows to the rear elevation are considered to be of an
appropriate size, scale and design to the original dwellinghouse and would
have no adverse impact on the character and appearance of the area.
6.6

In accordance with Policy E4 the plot is located within a Residential Area of
Special Character (Character Area 3F). The RASC SPD outlines general
principles that should be respected for all new development throughout defined
areas. Area 3F is characterised in the RASC SPD by the following: “The plots
consist of deep setbacks with the buildings facing onto the frontage. Entrances
from the cul-de-sac are individual. These are generally consistent plot sizes
and some mature trees in the public realm. The areas each have distinctive
geometric turning areas. There are some inconsistent boundary treatments on
the frontages.”

6.7

It is considered that the proposal respects the principles set out in the RASC.
The plot size will not be affected nor will it be subdivided, the building line and
setback will remain the same and the existing landscaping, trees and boundary
treatments are to be retained. While the ridge height is being increased, the
design of the proposal ensures the visual separation and spacing between
buildings will be maintained. In terms of building design, there is a variety of
design styles within the existing street scene with a mix of gable and hipped
roof forms, as such the proposed hipped roof would not look out of character
for the area. The width of the frontage of the property will remain the same with
only the height increasing. As mentioned above, Julian Close is situated on
sloping ground with the application site set below the neighbouring properties
to the north west. Due to the change in levels it is considered the increased
ridge height of the property would not have an adverse impact on the character
and appearance of the area or result in an overdevelopment of the plot as the
property would be at a similar height to neighbouring dwellings and would
therefore not be out of scale with the surrounding area.

6.8

The development is located in a position such that public views would be
possible. Any views of the proposal would be seen in the context of the
existing dwelling and streetscene, in this respect the proposal would not
adversely affect the character and appearance of the area, in compliance with
Policies COM2, E1 and E4 of the TVBRLP and the guidance set out within the
Chilworth Village Design Statement.

6.9

Impact on amenity of neighbouring property
Concerns have also been raised in regard to a loss of privacy for neighbouring
dwellings as a result of the proposed rear dormer windows, while this is noted,
it is not considered the views from these windows would offer vantage points
much different to those currently available from the first floor of the application
site. By virtue of the size (bulk and mass) and design of the proposal, it’s
juxtaposition relative to neighbouring property, and the nature of the
intervening boundary treatment the proposal would not give rise to an adverse
impact on the living conditions of neighbouring properties by virtue of loss of
daylight, sun light, or privacy. The proposal is in accordance with Policy LHW4
of the TVBRLP.

Page 15

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

6.10

Impact on trees
The Tree Officer was consulted and raised no objection to the proposal subject
to conditions. The proposed alterations do not bring occupied spaces
significantly closer to the cedar on the frontage, or trees along the rear
boundary than existing habitable rooms. These trees will be no more
significant in blocking sunlight to the dwelling after the development than
before, in obstructing skylight or in being unduly dominant. As such this
proposal is not likely to bring new pressures on the trees. Subject to a
condition for the protection of the Cedar Tree on the frontage and a condition
to ensure the Tree protective measures installed are maintained and retained
for the full duration of works, the development is not considered to have any
adverse impact on trees in accordance with Policy E2 of the TVBRLP.

6.11

Impact on ecology
The application is supported by a Bat Roost Assessment (Phillips Ecology,
July 2021). A small number of old droppings were identified within the roof void
of the original eastern roof. During the Phase 1 bat survey work, however no
access to the loft void was identified within the internal inspection at this time.
While this may be the case, external features were identified (raised tiles)
which may be suitable for crevice dwelling species such common pipistrelle
and therefore, given the clear potential for roosting bats, further emergence
and re-entry surveys were conducted, in accordance with best practice
guidelines.

6.12

Two thorough Phase 2 (dusk emergence and dawn re-entry) surveys were
carried out in optimal conditions. This showed a reasonable level of local bat
activity, showing bats are active in the area and likely roosting in various
nearby locations such as other houses and trees. However, despite this, no bat
emergences or re-entries were noted from the application site. Given the lack
of bat emergences and the likely age of the identified droppings, the
conclusion that the house does not support a bat roost at this time is
reasonable.

6.13

In view of the survey findings the ecologist has advised that the development is
unlikely to result in a breach of the law protecting bats and would raise no
further concerns. As such the proposal is not considered to give rise to any
adverse impacts on existing habitat or on-site ecology, in accordance with
Policy E5 of the TVBRLP.

6.14

Impact on parking provision
The proposal will result in the creation of two additional bedrooms at the
dwelling. In accordance with the parking standards as set out in Annex G and
Policy T2 of the TVBRLP, a 4+ bedroom unit should provide a minimum of 3
on-site car parking spaces, the site plan confirms this is achievable and as
such the development accords with Policy T2 of the TVBRLP.

Page 16

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

6.15

Other Matters
Further objection comments relate to the potential for the development to block
views of the golf course however, long distance views of the golf course from
Julian Close are already largely obscured by the existing mature trees in the
centre of the Close. Other comments regarding previous planning applications
at another property have also been taken into consideration during the
determination of this application however each planning application is
considered on its own merits and planning policies may have changed since.

7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
The proposal is considered acceptable and in accordance with the policies of
the TVBRLP.

8.0

RECOMMENDATION
PERMISSION subject to:
1.
The development hereby permitted shall be begun within three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 91 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2.
The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in
complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted
plans:
20055/005P A
20055/003P C
20055/004P D
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.
3.
The external materials to be used in the construction of all external
surfaces of the development hereby permitted shall match in type,
colour and texture those used in the existing building.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual relationship of the new
development with the existing in accordance with Test Valley
Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1.
4.
Development shall proceed in accordance with the measures set
out in Section 5 'Recommendations' of the Marlbrook, Julian Close,
Chilworth, Bat Roost Assessment (Phillips Ecology, July 2021).
Thereafter, mitigation and enhancement features shall be
permanently maintained and retained in accordance with the
approved details, with photographic evidence provided to the Local
Planning Authority within 6 months of occupation.
Reason: to ensure the favourable conservation status of protected
species in accordance with Policy E5 of the Test Valley Revised
Local Plan DPD.
5.
External lighting will follow best practice guidelines outlined by the
Bat Conservation Trust and the Institute of Lighting Professionals
(Guidance note 08/18 Bats and artificial lighting in the UK). Prior to
commencement, a detailed lighting strategy for the construction
and operation phase of the development shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development

Page 17

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

shall subsequently proceed in accordance with any such approved
details, with the approved lighting strategy maintained in perpetuity.
Reason: to prevent disturbance to protected species in accordance
with the National Planning Policy Framework and the Revised Test
Valley Local Plan DPD.
6.
No development shall take place (including site clearance and any
other preparatory works) until a scheme for the protection of the
cedar tree on the frontage to be retained has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such a scheme
shall demonstrate that all site works, mixing areas, storage areas,
remain wholly outside any tree protection zones and at a suitable
separation to prevent damage to retained trees. It must also include
a plan showing the location and specification of tree protective
barriers. Such barriers shall be erected prior to any other site
operations and at least three working days notice shall be given to
the Local Planning Authority that it has been erected.
Note: The protective barriers shall be as specified at Chapter 6.2
and detailed in figure 2 of B.S.5837:2012 unless otherwise agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the enhancement of the development by the
retention of existing trees and natural features during the
construction phase in accordance with Test Valley Borough
Revised Local Plan policy E2 (2016).
Tree protective measures installed (in accordance with the tree
7.
protection condition) shall be maintained and retained for the full
duration of works or until such time as agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority. No activities, nor material storage, nor
placement of other equipment what-so-ever shall take place within
the barrier.
Reason: To ensure the avoidance of damage to existing trees and
natural features during the construction phase in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan policy E2.
Note to Applicant:
1.
In reaching this decision Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) has
had regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and takes a
positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused
on solutions. TVBC work with applicants and their agents in a
positive and proactive manner offering a pre-application advice
service and updating applicants/agents of issues that may arise in
dealing with the application and where possible suggesting
solutions.

Page 18

Def

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021
Ashey Down

32

Fern Court

BAS

Und

Julian House
Midway

SET

T HE

ATH
AVE
N

Rowans

UE

59.7m
1.22m FF
Issues

SE

Fairlie Lodge
Gartref

JU
LIA

1.22m RH

NC
LO

The Spinney
Green Ridge

Carisbrooke
Wytchwood

UA B

dy

Born Free

Brookvale
The Cottage

1. 2

2m

TB

Sun Corner

Brackenrigg
De
f

Def

Marlbrook
White Lodge

24

32a

32

Def

Oak

Sinks

Holly

Broo

k

Issues

N

Siteplan

REPRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING
WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF
HER MAJESTY’S STATIONERY OFFICER © CROWN COPYRIGHT.
UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT
AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.
TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL LICENCE No. 100024295 2013

21/00462/FULLS
Page 19

Marlbrook

Page 20

White Lodge

441450
441450

metres

10

20

Sun Corner

Marlbrook

White Lodge

Julian House

Brackenrigg

Brookvale

Wytchwood

Fairlie Lodge

BAS

SET

Issues

59.7m

NUE

AVE

Gartref

ATH

T HE

© Crown copyright 2020 Ordnance Survey 100053143

441550

441500

Site Location Plan - 1:1250

0

The Cottage

Born Free

Carisbrooke

The Spinney

441500

SU4116

116869

116900

116950

117000

117027

SU4117

E

MapServe
441550

Site Plan - 1:200

Sun Corner

OS
CL

441435
LIA
N

SU4117
117027

SU4116

116869

116900

116950

117000

441587

JU

441587

441435

+44 (0) 1489 884155
info@pario-design.co.uk

architecture + design

Oct '20

1:500/1:1250

Copyright Pario Consulting Limited.

20055/005P

Drawing No.

Date

Scale

Site Plan &
Site Location Plan

Drawing Title

A

Revision

NRS

Author

Proposed Loft Conversion
Marlbrook, Julian Close, Chilworth

Project

Mr & Mrs Hill
Marlbrook
Julian Close, Chilworth
Hampshire
SO16 0HR

Client

T
E

25 barnes wallis road
segensworth east
hampshire
PO15 5TT

pario architecture

Subject to statutory approval.

This drawing is only to be used in conjunction with drawing notes & specification prepared by
PARIO CONSULTING Limited.

SUBJECT TO BUILDING REGULATIONS, FIRE REGULATIONS AND STATUTORY APPROVALS.

DO NOT SCALE OFF THIS DRAWING.
All dimensions to be checked on site before work commences.

This drawing is the Copyright of PARIO CONSULTING Limited.
It may not be reproduced in part or in whole without prior written permission.

NOTE:

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Existing West Elevation

Existing East Elevation

1m

2m

3m

4m

3m

Existing South Elevation

Existing North Elevation

0

10m

Page 21
+44 (0) 1489 884155
info@pario-design.co.uk

architecture + design

Oct '20

1:100

Copyright Pario Consulting Limited.

20055/002P

Drawing No.

Date

Scale

Existing
Elevations

Drawing Title

-

Revision

NRS

Author

Proposed Loft Conversion
Marlbrook, Julian Close, Chilworth

Project

Mr & Mrs Hill
Marlbrook
Julian Close, Chilworth
Hampshire
SO16 0HR

Client

T
E

25 barnes wallis road
segensworth east
hampshire
PO15 5TT

pario architecture

Subject to statutory approval.

This drawing is only to be used in conjunction with drawing notes & specification prepared by
PARIO CONSULTING Limited.

SUBJECT TO BUILDING REGULATIONS, FIRE REGULATIONS AND STATUTORY APPROVALS.

DO NOT SCALE OFF THIS DRAWING.
All dimensions to be checked on site before work commences.

This drawing is the Copyright of PARIO CONSULTING Limited.
It may not be reproduced in part or in whole without prior written permission.

NOTE:

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Proposed West Elevation

Proposed East Elevation

1m

2m

3m

4m

3m

Proposed South Elevation

Proposed North Elevation

0

10m

Page 22
+44 (0) 1489 884155
info@pario-design.co.uk

architecture + design

Oct '20

1:100

Copyright Pario Consulting Limited.

20055/004P

Drawing No.

Date

Scale

Proposed
Elevations

Drawing Title

D

Revision

NRS

Author

Proposed Loft Conversion
Marlbrook, Julian Close, Chilworth

Project

Mr & Mrs Hill
Marlbrook
Julian Close, Chilworth
Hampshire
SO16 0HR

Client

T
E

25 barnes wallis road
segensworth east
hampshire
PO15 5TT

pario architecture

Subject to statutory approval.

This drawing is only to be used in conjunction with drawing notes & specification prepared by
PARIO CONSULTING Limited.

SUBJECT TO BUILDING REGULATIONS, FIRE REGULATIONS AND STATUTORY APPROVALS.

DO NOT SCALE OFF THIS DRAWING.
All dimensions to be checked on site before work commences.

This drawing is the Copyright of PARIO CONSULTING Limited.
It may not be reproduced in part or in whole without prior written permission.

NOTE:

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

ITEM 8

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

AMENDMENTS

CASE OFFICER

21/01118/FULLS
FULL APPLICATION - SOUTH
29.04.2021
Mr T Patel and Dr J Patel
Southerly, The Ring, Chilworth, SO16 7HW,
CHILWORTH
Replacement and raising of existing roof to form
additional living accommodation; render and glass
gable to main entrance; two storey side extension with
swimming pool and plant room and master suite over;
single storey rear extension with flat roof to form roof
terrace to first floor.
0226-02-005 A
0226-02-006 A
0226-02-007 C
0226-02-010 A
(Received 23.06.2021)
Mr Gregory Anderson

Background paper (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
The application is presented to Southern Area Planning Committee at the
request of a member.

2.0
2.1

SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION
Southerly is a detached dwelling situated on a large plot within the settlement
boundary of Chilworth as defined on the inset maps of the TVBRLP. The site is
accessed via a long driveway off of The Ring. The dwelling is set well back
from the highway and is heavily screened by mature vegetation present to the
front garden of the property.

3.0
3.1

PROPOSAL
Replacement and raising of existing roof to form additional living
accommodation; render and glass gable to main entrance; two storey side
extension with swimming pool and plant room and master suite over; single
storey rear extension with flat roof to form roof terrace to first floor.

4.0
4.1

HISTORY
06/03631/FULLS - Raise ridge height to existing dwelling and erection of
single and two storey extensions to front, side and rear of property to provide
entrance lobby and additional living and bedroom accommodation with integral
garage. Permission subject to conditions - 29.03.2007

Page 23

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

4.2

TVS.02355/2 - Erection of conservatory above existing kitchen.
Permission subject to conditions 12.06.2000

4.3

TVS.02355/1 - Erection of double car port with garden store and games room.
Permission subject to conditions 15.10.1981

4.4

TVS.02355 - Extension.
Permission subject to conditions 27.10.1978

5.0

CONSULTATIONS
TVBC Ecology – No objection (subject to conditions)
TVBC Trees – Objection
 Having reviewed this information, it appears that the existing
outbuildings will now be retained which will help to minimise
construction activities in these areas. However, there have been no
significant alterations to the proposed front elevation which encroaches
into the canopy of T19 or the edge of eastern elevation which is only
about 1m from the oak canopy of T13. Therefore, I still object to this
proposal on the basis that these trees are likely to be under undue
pressure in the future. It may be possible to overcome this objection if
the building is set back or reduced in sized to provide adequate future
space for the surrounding trees.


6.0
6.1

I also have some concerns regarding overall protection around the site
because the drawing 0226-02-006 A is not that clear in this regard (i.e.
the protective fence line is located across the existing annex which is
impracticable if this structure is to be retained). If this structure is to be
removed, we need to know how that will be done in the root protection
area (RPA) of T11 (Just one of the many practical issues that need to
be resolved with this proposal). It is also unclear how much excavation
or level change is required to increase the driveway close to trees T1
and T19. This is very close to their trunks where there may be a
significant impact if the levels need to be reduced in these areas. We
would need to see scaled cross-sections demonstrating that what is
proposed can be implemented without excavating into existing soil
levels of RPAs. Further input from the applicant’s tree consultant is
advised to see if these objections can be reasonably overcome.

REPRESENTATIONS Expired 14.09.2021
Chilworth Parish Council – Support
Generally, the Parish Council are supportive of this application. However, there
are three aspects of concern which the Parish Council would like reflected in
conditions imposed, as follows:
1. It is clear that the height of the roof exceeds the existing height,
resulting in the possibility of this property overlooking the rear of the
houses to the side of this property. To avoid any creeping further
development, the Parish Council asks that there is a condition
restricting the number of rooms and windows to those shown in the
application plans.

Page 24

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

2. In the Parish Council’s view, it is vital that a condition be imposed
restricting the building adjacent to the side boundary to one storey.
Otherwise, in the future, there is a risk of an application to create a two
storey house there which would result in a complete loss of privacy and
overlooking for houses beyond that boundary.
3. If possible, the Parish Council would like a condition whereby planting of
suitable trees and/or shrubs along the side boundary is imposed to
protect those houses adjoining that side
6.2

1x Address Unknown – Objection
I have 2 comments:
1. That all trees and wildlife on this site which are protected are not
demolished/destroyed by this application and consequent construction
2. That the footprint/height of this application does not increase in height,
width or depth during construction, resulting in a structure out of
keeping with surrounding buildings. The new building will be by far the
largest building in The Ring.

6.3

The Cottage – Objection
Raising the Roof
The plot was advertised as being around ¾ of an acre, so there is no shortage
of space on which to build. A number of smaller outbuildings are being
replaced on different footprints by larger modern structures and the footprint of
the main building is being extended both horizontally and (critically to us,)
vertically.
The raised and enlarged roof along with the new windows could dominate our
sightline; the effectiveness of the screening reduces with height. This
challenge to our privacy is aggravated with the explicit detailing of the revised
garden layout (CGI detailed as ‘view 4.6’) that removes all vestiges of
screening between our properties. Short of our building a 20-foot-high fence on
our border (of course not happening), we will lose the privacy we have enjoyed
over the past 17 years of ownership of our home, we find that prospect
appalling.
Chilworth Environment
Much has been discussed about property density and plot exploitation within
Chilworth and the area’s ambiance, not least by the previous owner of this
home who will have been well known to you.
As previously mentioned, this plot is large (more than twice the size of our
own), the ‘replacement annexe’ is not just supplanting a converted garage that
was used as an office, there is explicitly a complete second home being built
on the plot. This ‘replacement annexe’ could readily be further extended and
subsequently split into a separate discrete dwelling.
As this work progresses (probably without the owners in residence given the
scale of the work), it is to be hoped that the contractors will take into account
the considerable noise and other pollution from their construction. Perhaps you
could advise on appropriate guidelines to be observed during the 12+ months
this work will undoubtedly take as we will be well aware of the work-inprogress.

Page 25

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Southerly will certainly be redeveloped; it was advertised for sale as a project
and priced accordingly. 21/01118/FULLS is a substantial plan that provides 7
full-size bedrooms across two homes and substantial living and leisure
accommodation with scope for further expansion. Our best outcome and the
purpose of this letter is that we are:
(a) no more aware of the presence of the enlarged Southerly complex than
we are of it now and;
(b) suffer little from the contractor’s presence during its extended period of
construction.
6.4

Holly Hatch – Objection
Whilst recognising that Southerly is in need of substantial modernisation and
improvement we feel that the proposals need to take more consideration of the
Test Valley Revised Local Plan (2016) as well as the Residential Areas of
Special Character (RASC) Appraisals â€“ Chilworth (2019).
The Local Plan states that: "Policy E1: High Quality Development in the
Borough Development will be permitted if it is of a high quality in terms of
design and local distinctiveness. To achieve this development:
a) should integrate, respect and complement the character of the area in which
the development is located in terms of layout, appearance, scale, materials
and building styles;"
and:
"7.12 Extensions or alterations can have a cumulative impact on the character
of the area and can overwhelm an existing building to the extent that its
original character and symmetry is significantly eroded. To minimise this the
proposal would need to be subsidiary to the original building and not dominate
in scale."
The plans submitted would render the existing building completely
unrecognisable, they are not subsidiary to it and most definitely dominate it in
scale.
By raising the roof height around 1.6 m and by increasing the footprint of the
main house by approaching 2.3 times this house will not integrate, respect or
complement the other dwellings in Chilworth Ring or Julian Way, it would be
completely out of scale and alter the character of the area.
With the extra (2nd) floor of the house featuring large glass patio doors, and
the 1st floor a roof terrace (as well as large patio doors) there is scope for
overlooking the neighbouring gardens - obviously more so when the trees are
not in leaf.
The RASC document states within Policy E4 that development (including
extensions, alterations, sub-divisions and redevelopment) will be permitted
provided that:
"b) The developments size, scale, layout, siting and detailed design are
compatible with the character of within the Residential Area of Special
Character."

Page 26

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Once again we'd question whether the size and scale (including building
height, storey height in the vicinity is noted as 1.5 - 2 floors) are compatible
with the existing development located within the area 3F (Chilworth Ring and
Julian Close).
In terms of boundaries there are infrequent posts in the ground between Holly
Hatch and Southerly but the delineation is not 100% clear - apart from possibly
the driveway enlargement we don't believe that buildings works are planned
within 3m of our boundary but if applicable we would kindly request that a party
wall survey is carried out.
We would also be interested to know what type and height of fencing/ gates
are planned for the boundaries - there were some substantial, bright red gates
on a property in Hadrian Way that we believe fell foul of planning so were
removed, all of the properties in Chilworth Ring have an "open-plan" style to
their entrance. The RASC refers to plot boundaries of "Evergreen hedges and
low walls with some open plan grassed frontages, tree lined frontage in places"
and the guidance is to "Soften frontages and reinforce enclosure with
appropriate hedge planting".
Regarding wildlife, we note that a survey has been carried out discounting
badgers from the plot. There are are families of foxes residing in the trees just
behind the house, as well as, we understand, six or seven badgers setts. We
would ask that wildlife is taken into consideration in any garden work carried
out.
6.5

Greenridge – Objection
1. The size of the building is not in keeping with the character of The Ring,
and substantially larger than any of the other character homes in the
location. Indeed, it resembles a multifamily multiple home rather than
being akin to the other properties in The Ring. This will negatively
impact on valuations of neighbouring properties.
2. No mention is made of the substantial tree clearance which appears to
be required in order to accommodate the works, and many of the
neighbouring trees in this area of woodland beauty are under TPO
protection.
3. The substantial building works will disrupt neighbouring properties for at
least a two year period, and will avail themselves of the limited on-street
parking currently available to the other residents of the street.
4. The boundary of the property adjacent to Greenridge requires
considerable attention. The new owners need to have a party wall
survey carried out and any repairs should be made good as part of
these works.
5. There have been considerable problems with a high water-table and
poor drainage at the southern aspect of Chilworth Ring, requiring us to
install several soakaways to the front and rear gardens of our property.
The proposed works will lead to even more surface water drainage from
Southerly onto our adjacent plot, with exacerbation of the already
considerable problems we face: we have been water-logged
continuously over winter months in four of the last five years.

Page 27

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

6. The height and proximity of the proposed building will be intrusive to us
in the neighbouring property; it will overlook our garden, especially if
boundary hedges and trees are inappropriately removed, and will
considerably compromise our privacy.
7.0
7.1

POLICY
Government Guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

7.2

Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)(RLP)
Policy SD1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Policy E1 – High Quality Development in the Borough
Policy E2 – Protect, Conserve and Enhance the Landscape Character of the
Borough
Policy E4 – Residential Areas of Special Character
Policy E5 – Biodiversity
Policy LHW4 – Amenity
Policy T2 – Parking Standards

7.3

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD)
Chilworth Village Design Statement
Residential Areas of Special Character (RASC) Appraisals – Chilworth (June
2017)
Residential Areas of Special Character SPD (January 2019)

8.0
8.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main planning considerations are:
 Principle of development
 Impact on the character and appearance of the area
 Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties
 Impact on Trees
 Impact on Ecology
 Impact on Parking

8.2

Principle of development
The sites lies within the settlement boundary of Chilworth as defined on the
Inset Maps of the TVBRLP. In accordance with Policy COM2 of the TVBRLP
development is permitted provided the proposal is appropriate to other policies
of the Revised Local Plan. The proposal is assessed against relevant policies
below.

8.3

Impact on the character and appearance of the area
The development comprises the replacement and raising of the existing roof,
construction of a render and glass gable to the main entrance, a two storey
side extension with swimming pool and plant room and master suite over and a
single storey rear extension with flat roof to form a roof terrace to the first floor.
The plans did also initially include a replacement annexe and new garage
however, amended plans have since been received removing these elements
from the proposal.

Page 28

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

8.4

Neighbour representations have been received raising objection to the
proposed development, particularly in relation to the size and scale of the
proposal. These comments have been taken into consideration during the
determination of this application however the application property is currently
one of the smallest dwellings within The Ring. While the proposal will result in
significant alterations to the property, it is not considered the extensions and
resultant dwelling would be out of scale in relation to the surrounding area
which is characterised by large detached dwellings surrounded by mature
vegetation and trees.

8.5

The taller hipped roof will increase the ridge line of the dwelling by
approximately 1.2 metres, considering the dwelling is located approximately 50
metres from the highway and is well screened by mature vegetation to the
front, the development is located in a position such that limited public views
would be possible. Any glimpsed views of the proposal would be seen in the
context of the existing dwelling and in this respect the proposal would not
adversely affect the character and appearance of the area, in compliance with
Policies COM2 and E1 of the TVBRLP.

8.6

The two storey side extension is set back from the front elevation of the
dwelling. Due to the setback nature of the extension from the main house and
the hipped roof design of the two storey side extension it is considered this
extension would be subservient to the main part of the dwelling and as such
would be in accordance with Policy E1 of the TVBRLP.

8.7

The single storey rear extension will contain a new kitchen, dining area and
family room. Due to the single storey nature of the development it is
considered this extension is of an appropriate size, scale and design to the
existing property.

8.8

In accordance with Policy E4 the plot is located within a Residential Area of
Special Character (Character Area 3F). The RASC SPD outlines general
principles that should be respected for all new development throughout defined
areas. Area 3F is characterised in the RASC SPD by the following: “The plots
consist of deep setbacks with the buildings facing onto the frontage. Entrances
from the cul-de-sac are individual. These are generally consistent plot sizes
and some mature trees in the public realm. The areas each have distinctive
geometric turning areas. There are some inconsistent boundary treatments on
the frontages.”

8.9

It is considered that the proposal respects the principles set out in the RASC.
The plot size will not be affected nor will it be subdivided. The building line and
setback will be altered slightly with the proposed glass gable/entrance and side
extension at ground floor level set forward of the existing building line by
approximately 1.2 metres and 1.8 metres respectively, however when
considering the long entrance driveway and the fact that Southerly is one of
the furthest set back dwellings in The Ring, the slight extension to the front of
the dwelling will still respect the building line and set back nature of the area.

Page 29

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

The existing landscaping, trees and boundary treatments are to be retained
(this principle is addressed further in the Trees section of this report). While the
ridge height is being increased, with further extensions to the side and rear of
the dwelling, the design of the proposal ensures the visual separation and
spacing between buildings will be maintained. In terms of building design,
dwellings in The Ring have a variety of design styles and it is not considered
the resultant dwelling would be out of character for the area. As noted in the
SPD “Particularly in Chilworth RASC, it is important that buildings retain the
appearance of significant detached dwellings.” The development will retain this
appearance.
8.10

As it stands, the existing property is in need of modernisation and is of little
design value or merit. For the reasons set out above it is considered the
proposed alterations and extensions are of an appropriate size, scale and
design and would not have an adverse impact on the character and
appearance of the area in accordance with Policies COM2, E1 and E4 of the
TVBRLP and the Chilworth Village Design Statement.

8.11

Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties
Neighbour representations have been received raising concern regarding
overlooking as a result of the proposal. Concerns have been raised in relation
to the proposed terrace at first floor level however, at this level there is
currently already a conservatory style extension so it is not considered a
terrace in this area would further exacerbate any issues from overlooking.
Further to this, the two storey extension should provide adequate screening
from the terrace for neighbouring properties when looking to the west, with
heavy screening from mature vegetation present along the other remaining
boundaries.

8.12

There are also concerns raised regarding the removal of boundary treatments
however no boundary treatment is proposed to be removed as part of this
application. The CGI views contained within the planning statement are merely
indicative and permission would be required for the removal of any of the
boundary treatments to the south as they are located within a TPO area.

8.13

While the proposed dormer windows in the newly formed roof will offer views
from a higher vantage point than previously, due to the heavy screening
afforded to the plot from the mature vegetation present on all boundaries and
the separation distance between properties it is not considered the
development will result in a loss of privacy for neighbouring properties.
Furthermore the gable roof form of the rear extensions will shield any views
into neighbouring gardens to the east or west.

8.14

For the reasons set out above the development will not result in a loss of
privacy for neighbouring properties. Due to the separation distance between
the properties and the scale of the development proposed it is not considered
the development will result in a loss of sunlight or daylight received by
neighbouring properties or create a sense of overbearing in accordance with
Policy LHW4.

Page 30

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

8.15

Trees
The application is supported by an arboricultural impact statement (Plane
Arboriculture, 03 August 2021). Following initial concerns from the Tree Officer
regarding the proposed new outbuildings, these elements have been removed
from the proposal which will help minimise construction activities around the
trees in these areas.

8.16

The Tree Officer has raised objection to the proposal due to the proximity of
the proposed front elevation to T19 and the extension to the east elevation
which is close to the canopy of T13 on the basis that they are likely to be under
undue pressure to fell in the future. These comments have been noted
however it is considered the large glass frontage would be sufficient to allow
maximum daylight into the property and as such there should be no undue
pressure to T19. In relation to T13, this part of the extension contains only nonhabitable rooms (a gym, sauna and swimming pool at ground floor and ensuite at first floor level) these rooms have no need for natural light and as such
any future felling would be resisted.

8.17

The Tree Officer has also raised concerns regarding the overall tree protection
proposed on site, as such a pre-commencement condition is included on this
permission requiring an arboricultural method statement detailing the tree
protection measures used during the construction process to be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

8.18

For the reasons set out above and subject to a condition requiring an
arboricultural method statement, the development is considered to be in
accordance with Policy E2.

8.19

Ecology
The application is supported by a Preliminary ecological assessment and
phase 2 bat surveys (David Leach Ecology Ltd., June 2021). The building on
site was assessed as having moderate bat roost potential, and was therefore
subject to further emergence and re-entry surveys in accordance with best
practice guidelines (Bat Conservation Trust, Collins, 2016). No bats were
observed emerging from or re-entering the buildings during these surveys, and
roosting bats were therefore considered unlikely to be impacted by the
proposals. In view of the survey findings the development is unlikely to result in
a breach of the law protecting bats. The ecologist was consulted and raised no
objection to the proposal subject to conditions. As such the proposal is not
considered to give rise to any adverse impacts on existing habitat or on-site
ecology, in accordance with Policy E5 of the TVBRLP.

8.20

Parking
The development will result in the formation of two extra bedrooms at the
dwelling, taking it from 4 to 6 bedrooms. In accordance with the minimum
parking standards as set out in Annex G of Policy T2 of the TVBRLP, 4+
bedroom units should provide a minimum of 3 off road parking spaces. The
dwelling benefits from ample hardstanding to the front elevation of the property
and as such it is considered the proposal is in accordance with the parking
standards as set out in Policy T2 of the TVBRLP.

Page 31

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

8.21

Other Matters
Representations received also raise objections to the proposal regarding
potential noise from the works, the impact of the development on property
value and party wall agreements. While these comments are noted, they are
private matters and as such are not material planning considerations. The
comments of the Parish Council are also noted however as the annex building
is no longer part of this proposal it is not considered necessary to impose
conditions restricting the height of the building or for planting on this boundary.
In relation to the request for a condition restricting the number of rooms and
windows to those shown in the application plans, the condition requiring the
development to be built in accordance with the approved plans should deal
with this. Any works to be undertaken in the future would require planning
permission and the concerns considered on their merits or would be permitted
development. There are conditions and restrictions in the GPDO to ensure that
development does not result in harm to the amenities of adjoining properties.
In the circumstances of this application it would not be reasonable to remove
permitted development rights for further extensions at this property.

9.0
9.1

CONCLUSION
For the reasons set out above, the development is considered acceptable and
in accordance with the policies of the TVBRLP.

10.0 RECOMMENDATION
PERMISSION subject to:
1.
The development hereby permitted shall be begun within three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 91 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2.
The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in
complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted
plans, numbers:
0226-02-001
0226-02-005 A
0226-02-006 A
0226-02-007 C
0226-02-008
0226-02-010 A
0226-02-011
0226-02-012
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.
3.
The external materials to be used in the construction of all external
surfaces of the development hereby permitted shall be in
accordance with the details specified on the application form and
approved plans.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual relationship of the new
development with the existing in accordance with Test Valley
Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1.

Page 32

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

4.

5.

6.

7.

Notwithstanding the details on plan number 0226-02-011 (Proposed
side elevations) this permission relates solely to the works
stipulated in the description of development and does not include
the proposed garage.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.
External lighting will follow best practice guidelines outlined by the
Bat Conservation Trust and the Institute of Lighting Professionals
(Guidance note 08/18 Bats and artificial lighting in the UK). Prior to
commencement, a detailed lighting strategy for the construction and
operation phase of the development shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development
shall subsequently proceed in accordance with any such approved
details, with the approved lighting strategy maintained in perpetuity.
Reason: To prevent disturbance to protected species in accordance
with the National Planning Policy Framework and the Revised Test
Valley Local Plan DPD.
Development shall proceed in accordance with the measures set out
in Section 5.0 'Conclusion' of the Southerly, Chilworth, Preliminary
ecological assessment and phase 2 bat surveys (David Leach
Ecology Ltd., June 2021). Prior to commencement, a detailed
scheme of biodiversity enhancements to be incorporated into the
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. Development shall subsequently proceed
in accordance with any such approved details. Thereafter, mitigation
and enhancement features shall be permanently maintained and
retained in accordance with the approved details, with photographic
evidence provided to the Local Planning Authority within 6 months
of occupation.
Reason: To ensure the favourable conservation status of bats in
accordance with Policy E5 of the Test Valley Revised Local Plan
DPD.
No development shall take place until an arboricultural method
statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. Specifically the method statement shall:
1. Provide a specification for tree protective barriers and or
ground protection, either in accordance with the above
standard or as otherwise agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority.
2. Confirm timing of erection and dismantling of such tree
protective barriers and or ground protection, which must in
any case be installed prior to commencement of any
demolition or ground works, and be retained and maintained
for the full duration of works until onset of final landscape
work or as otherwise agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority.

Page 33

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

3. Provide a plan at 1:200 or better, detailing the location of such
tree protective barriers and or ground protection, including
annotation that such tree protection shall remain in this
position for the full duration of works or unless by prior
written agreement with the Local Planning Authority.
4. Require a sign to be hung on such tree protective barriers,
repeated as necessary, which clearly states 'Tree Root
Protection Zone, do not enter, do not move this fence, or such
other similar wording as may be agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority.
5. Provide a plan demonstrating that all trenching, excavation,
soakaways, pipe and cable runs required by the development
can be installed wholly outside the areas protected by
barriers or ground protection ( the tree protection zone) as set
out in compliance with the above paragraphs.
6. Demonstrate by plan and section drawings that all proposed
structures can be built without the construction process
impacting upon the retained trees or required tree protection
zones.
7. Demonstrate that all site works, mixing areas, storage
compounds, site buildings and associated contractor parking
areas remain wholly outside any tree protection zones and at
a suitable separation to prevent damage to retained trees.
All work shall be undertaken in accordance with the requirements,
specifications and timing detailed within the approved details.
Reason: To prevent the loss during development of trees and
natural features and to ensure, so far as is practical, that
development progresses in accordance with current Arboriculture
best practice, in accordance with Policy E2 of the Test Valley
Borough Revised Local Plan 2016.
Notes to applicant:
1.
In reaching this decision Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) has
had regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and takes a
positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused
on solutions. TVBC work with applicants and their agents in a
positive and proactive manner offering a pre-application advice
service and updating applicants/agents of issues that may arise in
dealing with the application and where possible suggesting
solutions.
2.
Bats and their roosts receive strict legal protection under the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. All work
must stop immediately if bats, or evidence of bat presence (e.g.
droppings, bat carcasses or insect remains), are encountered at any
point during this development. Should this occur, further advice
should be sought from Natural England and/or a professional
ecologist.

Page 34

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021
Pinewood

Clannad House

The White House

Imlandris

Briar Ways

I
CH
LW
T
OR

Fern Court

H
NG
RI

Fair Acre

Midway

Bona
Vista

Rowans
Chilworth Ring
Earthworks

Druids

The Spinney
Green Ridge

Carisbrooke
Little Maples

Born Free
Holly Heath

Southerly
The Cottage

1. 2

2m

TB

Sun Corner

De
f

Def

Downland

Fairways

Oak

2
1.2

m

TB

f
De

N

Siteplan

REPRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING
WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF
HER MAJESTY’S STATIONERY OFFICER © CROWN COPYRIGHT.
UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT
AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.
TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL LICENCE No. 100024295 2013

21/01118/FULLS
Page 35

Marlbrook

Green Rid

G6

Proposed Site plan 1:250

CONTRACTORS COMPOUND

5

4

4 - cat C
RPA 3.7m

AND TREE REPORT BY PLANE ARBOCULTURE LIMITED

TREE POSITIONS ARE BASED ON TOPO SURVEY

NOTES:

existing slab/hard standing
from outbuildings

EXISTING RETAINED WALL LINE

POROUS SURFACING

MINIMUM AREA OF 'NO-DIG' &

TEMPORARY SURFACE
REINFORCEMENT

3

3 - cat C
RPA 3.8m

9
21

PROTECTIVE FENCE

existing
shed

existing
home office

8 - cat C
RPA 5.1m

10

8

7 - cat C
RPA 5.7m

7

ROOT PROTECTION
AREA
(Area is based on BS
5837:2012)

2

LEGEND

11 -cat A
RPA 9.9m

Existing
annex

1 - cat B
RPA 7.8m

12

13 - cat A
RPA 10.5m

larger drive

12 -cat C
RPA 6.7m

new side and rear
extension

19 RPA 9.7m

Southerly

Southerly,Chilworth Ring

19

11
1

13
20

Page 36

14
18

15

roof terrace

17 - cat C
RPA 4m

1:250
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Drawn:
Check:

nb

Yew Tree Lodge, Morgans Vale Road,
Redlynch, Salisbury SP5 2HY

proposed site plan

Title:

Side and rear extensions for Southerly,
Chilworth Ring, Chilworth, Southampton,
SO16 7HW

Project:

Mr and Mrs Patel

Client:

Rev -

16 - cat C
RPA 8.8m
on lower level to
proposal under
foundations

patio

patio

15 - cat A
RPA 10m
on lower
level to
proposal
under
foundations
16

rev a_22-06-2021_Following discussions with case officer, proposed outbuildings
removed from application, retain existing outbuildings

18 - cat C
RPA 3.6m

14 - cat B
RPA 14.7m
on lower level to
proposal under
foundations

17

1:250 @a3

Scale:

0226-02-006a

Drawing No:

Planning

Jan 2021

First Issue:

Revision:

This drawing is copyright and is not to be reproduced. The contractor will
be held responsible for the accuracy of works involving the setting out and
checking of all dimensions on the drawing and on site.
Dimensions must not be scaled from this drawing.

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Page 37

01 Existing front elevation 1:100

Southerly,Chilworth Ring

03 Existing Rear elevation 1:100

Entrance

04 Existing Side elevation 1:100

0

1

03

2

3

Title:

Drawn:
Check:

nb

Yew Tree Lodge, Morgans Vale Road,
Redlynch, Salisbury SP5 2HY

Existing elevations

5

01

1:100 @a3

Scale:

0226-02-003

Drawing No:

Planning

4

02
key plan

04

Side and rear extensions for Southerly,
Chilworth Ring, Chilworth, Southampton,
SO16 7HW

Project:

Mr and Mrs Patel

Client:

Rev -

1:100

02 Existing Side elevation 1:100

Gas

Jan 2021

First Issue:

Revision:

This drawing is copyright and is not to be reproduced. The contractor will
be held responsible for the accuracy of works involving the setting out and
checking of all dimensions on the drawing and on site.
Dimensions must not be scaled from this drawing.

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Page 38

10

03

02

01 Proposed front elevation 1:100

01

02

08

02

12

10

08

03

10

10
11

Southerly,Chilworth Ring

10

08

12

10

10

10

1:100
0

1

2

3

4

5

Posts - Timber square edged.
Roof light - Velux or similar
Patio door - aluminium grey
Aluminium louvres

5.
6.
7.

Sliding doors - aluminium grey

Drawn:
Check:

nb

Yew Tree Lodge, Morgans Vale Road,
Redlynch, Salisbury SP5 2HY

Front elevations

Title:

Side and rear extensions for Southerly,
Chilworth Ring, Chilworth, Southampton,
SO16 7HW

Project:

Mr and Mrs Patel

Client:

Rev -

1:100 @a3

Scale:

0226-02-010A

Drawing No:

Planning

15. Flat roof - single ply membrane grey

14. garage doors - aluminium grey

13. Flat dormer - standing seam metal

12. doors - aluminium grey

11. walls - render

10. Windows - aluminium grey

9.

Fascias/soffits - grey

Roof - clay tiles
4.

8.

01

Walls - horizontal dark fibre cement cladding

Walls - brickwork plinth

3.

2.

1.

Material Key

02
Key plan (NTS)

rev a_22-06-2021_Following discussions with case officer, proposed outbuildings
removed from application, retain existing outbuildings

10

10

existing ridge line

03

04

Jan 2021

First Issue:

Revision:

This drawing is copyright and is not to be reproduced. The contractor will
be held responsible for the accuracy of works involving the setting out and
checking of all dimensions on the drawing and on site.
Dimensions must not be scaled from this drawing.

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Page 39

09

10

10

5

11

03 Proposed rear elevation 1:100

01

10

10

existing ridge line

09

06

06
13

09

06

06

Southerly,Chilworth Ring

11

02

01

5

10

09

09

10

08

existing ridge line

01

10

08

02

1:100
0

1

2

3

4

Rev a_03-02-2021_updated with
client comments

03

5

Patio door - aluminium grey
Aluminium louvres

6.
7.

Sliding doors - aluminium grey

Drawn:
Check:

nb

Yew Tree Lodge, Morgans Vale Road,
Redlynch, Salisbury SP5 2HY

Rear elevation

Title:

Side and rear extensions for Southerly,
Chilworth Ring, Chilworth, Southampton,
SO16 7HW

Project:

Mr and Mrs Patel

Client:

Rev -

1:100 @a3

Scale:

0226-01-012

Drawing No:

Planning

15. Flat roof - single ply membrane grey

14. garage doors - aluminium grey

13. Flat dormer - standing seam metal

12. doors - aluminium grey

11. walls - render

10. Windows - aluminium grey

9.

Fascias/soffits - grey

Roof light - Velux or similar

8.

Posts - Timber square edged.

4.
5.

Walls - horizontal dark fibre cement cladding
Roof - clay tiles

2.
3.

Walls - brickwork plinth

01

1.

Material Key

02
Key plan (NTS)

04

Jan 2021

First Issue:

Revision:

This drawing is copyright and is not to be reproduced. The contractor will
be held responsible for the accuracy of works involving the setting out and
checking of all dimensions on the drawing and on site.
Dimensions must not be scaled from this drawing.

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Page 40

09

09

08

11

02

10

05

02 Proposed side elevation 1:100

02

03

04 Proposed side elevation 1:100

11

13

01

02

10

05

03

08

11

05

03

Southerly,Chilworth Ring

01

03

01

11

02

08

05

03

03

02

01

04

1:100
0

02
Key plan (NTS)

13

01

08

1

2

3

4

5

Rev a_03-02-2021_updated with
client comments

11

03

Sliding doors - aluminium grey

9.

Drawn:
Check:

nb

Yew Tree Lodge, Morgans Vale Road,
Redlynch, Salisbury SP5 2HY

Side elevations

Title:

Side and rear extensions for Southerly,
Chilworth Ring, Chilworth, Southampton,
SO16 7HW

Project:

Mr and Mrs Patel

Client:

Rev -

1:100 @a3

Scale:

0226-02-011

Drawing No:

Planning

15. Flat roof - single ply membrane grey

14. garage doors - aluminium grey

13. Flat dormer - standing seam metal

12. doors - aluminium grey

11. walls - render

10. Windows - aluminium grey

Aluminium louvres

Patio door - aluminium grey

6.

Fascias/soffits - grey

Roof light - Velux or similar

5.

8.

Posts - Timber square edged.

4.

7.

Walls - horizontal dark fibre cement cladding
Roof - clay tiles

2.

Walls - brickwork plinth

3.

1.

Material Key

Jan 2021

First Issue:

Revision:

This drawing is copyright and is not to be reproduced. The contractor will
be held responsible for the accuracy of works involving the setting out and
checking of all dimensions on the drawing and on site.
Dimensions must not be scaled from this drawing.

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

ITEM 9

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

AMENDMENTS
CASE OFFICER

21/01527/FULLS
FULL APPLICATION - SOUTH
20.05.2021
Clare Cooper
91-93 Bath House, Middlebridge Street, Romsey,
SO51 8HJ, ROMSEY TOWN
Removal of existing rear conservatory and lean-to
structure, rear garden room extension and internal
alterations
Miss Ash James

Background paper (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
The application is presented to Southern Area Planning Committee at the
request of a Member, for the reason “because it raises issues of more than
local public interest.”

2.0
2.1

SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION
Bath House is a Grade II Listed Building, which lies within Romsey
Conservation Area.

3.0
3.1

PROPOSAL
Removal of existing rear conservatory and lean-to structure, rear garden room
extension and internal alterations

4.0
4.1

HISTORY
None Relevant.

5.0
5.1

CONSULTATIONS
Conservation: No objection, subject to conditions

6.0
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS Expired 01.10.2021
Romsey Town Council: Objection
 The high mass of the proposed flank wall poses a significant visual
imposition on the amenity of the neighbouring property

6.2

87-89 Middlebridge Street: Objection (received 14.06.2021, no further
comments received for amended drawings)
 Impact of size and reduction of light
 Not accurate sketch of no. 87-89
 Toilet window closer to the boundary, would like reduction in total length
of the extension

Page 41

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021



Request information of the extent of foundation excavation measures
taken to preserve the boundary wall and rectify disturbance on side of
87-89 Middlebridge St

7.0
7.1

POLICY
Government Guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

7.2

Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)(RLP)
Policy SD1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Policy COM2 – Settlement Hierarchy
Policy E1- High Quality Development in the Borough
Policy E5 – Biodiversity
Policy E9 – Heritage
Policy LHW4 – Amenity
Policy T2 – Parking Standards

8.0
8.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main planning considerations are:
 Principle of development
 Impact on the character and appearance of the area
 Impact on amenity of neighbouring property
 Impact on Heritage
 Impact on ecology
 Impact on parking provision
 Other Matters

8.2

Principle of development
The sites lies within the settlement boundary as defined on the Inset Maps of
the TVBRLP. In accordance with Policy COM2 of the TVBRLP development is
permitted provided the proposal is appropriate to other policies of the Revised
Local Plan. The proposal is assessed against relevant policies below.

8.3

Impact on the character and appearance of the area
The development is located in a position such that limited public views would
be possible. Any glimpsed views of the proposal would be seen in the context
of the existing dwelling and in this respect the proposal would not adversely
affect the character and appearance of the area, in compliance with Policies
COM2 and E1 of the TVBRLP.

8.4

Impact on amenity of neighbouring property
The existing conservatory to be demolished measures 2.3 (to eaves) with a
maximum height of 3.4m, there is a lean to along the boundary which includes
a 4.3m high sloping roof. The proposed single storey rear extension proposes
a 2.8m high flat roof with sloping roof lantern to the neighbouring boundary, the
overall height for the proposed lantern is 3.5m. Third party concerns were
received in relation to the proposed extension reducing light to the
neighbouring property. The proposal is has a separation distance of

Page 42

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

approximately 1.6m away from the neighbouring dwelling. Revised drawings
were received to reduce the length of the lanterns. Giving consideration to the
height of the existing structures to be replaced by the proposal and the NorthWest orientation of the properties, the design of the proposal, it’s juxtaposition
relative to neighbouring property, and the nature of the intervening boundary
treatment the proposal would not give rise to a detrimental adverse impact on
the living conditions of neighbouring properties by virtue of loss of daylight, sun
light, or privacy. The proposal is in accordance with Policy LHW4 of the
TVBRLP.
8.5

Impact on Heritage
In accordance with Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 places a statutory duty upon decision makers to
have special regard to the desirability of preserving listed building or its setting.
Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990 goes on to state that with respect to any buildings or other land in a
conservation area special attention shall be paid to the desirability of
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.

8.6

The NPPF advises that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and
should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance. Paragraph
193 of the Framework states that when considering the impact of a proposed
development on the significance of a heritage asset, great weight should be
given to the asset’s conservation.

8.7

Policy E9 of the Test Valley Borough Council Revised Local Plan sets out that
development affecting heritage assets will be permitted provided that:
a) it would make a positive contribution to sustaining or enhancing
the significance of the heritage asset taking account of its
character, appearance or setting; and
b) the significance of the heritage asset has informed the proposal
through an assessment proportionate to its importance

8.8

The property is a Grade II Listed Building situated within Romsey Conservation
Area. Due to its location to the rear of the property, it is considered the
proposed development would not be visually prominent within the conservation
area, in addition to the modest form, design and appearance of the proposal,
the development will have a neutral impact on the heritage assets and will in
no way cause harm to the character, appearance, or significance of the
Conservation Area or the character or significance of the listed building. As
such, the proposal would accord to Policy E9 of the Test Valley Borough
Council Revised Local Plan.

8.9

Impact on ecology
The proposal is not considered to give rise to any adverse impacts on existing
habitat or on-site ecology, in accordance with Policy E5 of the TVBRLP.

Page 43

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

8.10

Impact on parking provision
The proposal does not give rise to an additional demand for car parking or
result in the loss of existing car parking spaces to serve the dwelling, in
accordance with the parking standards as set out in Annex G and Policy T2 of
the TVBRLP.

8.11

Other Matters
Third party comments were received in relation to the indicative sketch not
showing a window at ground floor level for No. 87-89 Middlebridge Street. The
sketch is to illustrate the proposal further and as is not required to show all
elements of neighbouring properties. A site visit has been conducted by the
case officer to check the impact of the proposal in relation to neighbouring
properties.

8.12

Third party comments in relation to the details of the excavation are noted,
however the application form states that the proposed development is
proposed solely within the ownership of the applicant, and thus would not
impact the location of any neighbouring garden

8.13

Third party concerns relating the structure of the proposed development will be
dealt with by Building Control Regulations, as such, this not considered a
planning consideration.

9.0
9.1

CONCLUSION
The proposal is considered acceptable and in accordance with the policies of
the TVBRLP.

10.0 RECOMMENDATION
PERMISSION subject to:
1.
The development hereby permitted shall be begun within three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 91 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2.
The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in
complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted
plans, numbers PL001, PL002, PL003, PL004 PL005, PL006, PL007,
PL008 B, PL009 B, PL010 B, PL011 B, PL012 C, PL013 B, PL014 B,
PL015 B, PL016 A, PL017, PL018 B and PL019
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.
3.
No development shall commence until large scale details of all
external joinery including metal-framed glazing (1:5 elevation, 1:2
section) including vertical and horizontal cross-sections through
openings to show the positions of joinery within openings, depth of
reveal, heads, sills and lintels.
Reason: To ensure that the significance of the heritage asset is
sustained in accordance with Policy E9 of the Test Valley Borough
Local Plan 2016.

Page 44

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

4.

No demolition (including increasing openings) shall take place until
a method statement has been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority detailing the methods for the
demolition. The works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To ensure adequate safeguards are in place to protect the
structure and the works are of a standard appropriate to sustain the
significance of the a listed building in accordance with Test Valley
Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E9
5.
Prior to being planted, details of the proposed Sedum Mix is to
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall proceed in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the significance of the heritage asset is
sustained in accordance with Policy E9 of the Test Valley Borough
Local Plan 2016.
6.
No development shall take place until full samples and details of the
proposed materials are first submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall proceed in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the significance of the heritage asset is
sustained in accordance with Policy E9 of the Test Valley Borough
Local Plan 2016.
7.
The extension hereby approved shall not be erected until full details,
including scale drawings, of the junction between the proposed
extension and the rear elevation of the host building have submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall proceed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the significance of the heritage asset is
sustained in accordance with Policy E9 of the Test Valley Borough
Local Plan 2016.
Note to applicant:
1.
In reaching this decision Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) has
had regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and takes a
positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused
on solutions. TVBC work with applicants and their agents in a
positive and proactive manner offering a pre-application advice
service and updating applicants/agents of issues that may arise in
dealing with the application and where possible suggesting
solutions.

Page 45

48

to 2

1

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

19

31
23

35

49
53

56 to 61

FB

31

Church

Bridgemead

19

1 to

6

Drain

45

16

CH
AV
Y

1

W
AT
ER

FB

25

1

55

4

m

51
53

49

Bridge
Court

13
.1

10

22

FB
24

9
28

Brook Court

39

15
30

5

5

FB
FB

69

1

ET

42

FB

MI
D

78

1 to 37
Homemead
House

89

84

91 3
9

46
48 W
St ate
50
ud rm
io il
a
0
s l
5

99
3
10

M

FB

C
t

Middlebridge
House

2
to 7

1
St to
ep 10
he
ns

75

69

ST
RE

81

a

DL

81

EB
RI
DG
E

Riverside
House

83

S

95
97

ds
lan

80

S
EN
RD
GA

37

rry
Be

E
ID
RS

E

N
DE

30

VE
RI

ID
RS
VE
RI

R
GA

id
dl
eb
r id

a
56

ESS

M
s

74

ew

10

ge

FBs

LB

52

73

56

5
11
1
12 3
12

2

.2 m

58

1

12

45
o1

12

7
11

11

5

9t
13

12

a
68

PH
5
13

7
13

68b

3
15

K

Bark Mill Mews

5a
13 to
s
se
5d
ou
13
sh
m
Al
ts
en

66

i
Dra

n

12.2m
A SS
BY-P

D
RO A

Dr

ai n

Middlebridge

N

6

26

Su El
bS
ta

Siteplan

REPRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING
WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF
HER MAJESTY’S STATIONERY OFFICER © CROWN COPYRIGHT.
UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT
AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.
TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL LICENCE No. 100024295 2013

21/01527/FULLS
Page 46

REV A: 17.06.21
- design of roof amended to ease impact on
neighbouring property
- solar shading reduced to corner glazing only
- proposed flue amended

Bath House, Middlebridge Street, Romsey

Proposed Elevations

Revisions:

ELEVATION 02

48.32 FFL

50.67

C.Cooper & M.Pooley

Page 47

51.16

51.84

ELEVATION 01

48.32 FFL

50.67

51.16

51.84

0

1

2

3

4

01
01

5

02

info@forge-ds.co.uk
studio 01794 885872

Forge Design Studio
Cowesfield
Whiteparish
Salisbury
SP5 2RB

www.forge-ds.co.uk

Forge Design Studio asserts its rights under the
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, unless
otherwise agreed in writing. All rights reserved.

Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this
drawing. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions
are in millimetres unless otherwise stated. All dimensions
and setting out co-ordinates shall be checked on site
prior to work commencing. Any discrepancies shall be
reported to Forge Design Studio.

Drawing no: PL012

Project no: 202018

Scale: 1:100 @ A3

Checked by: MH

Drawn by: LM

Status: For Planning

Revision: A

Date: June 2021

Date: June 2021

02

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

FORMAL DINING

RECEPTION AREA

cup'd

Proposed Ground Floor

Bath House, Middlebridge Street, Romsey

C.Cooper & M.Pooley

Page 48

W/C

PANTRY

WINE
CELLAR

REV A: 17.06.21
- photographs added to demonstrate the need
for the existing opening to be enlarged
- positioning of "FireBob" log burner amended,
creating a subtle flue arrangement through the
flat roof section

Revisions:

UTILITY

4

FORMAL LIVING ROOM

750

3

0

2

1

KITCHEN

2

DINING

3

info@forge-ds.co.uk
studio 01794 885872

Forge Design Studio
Cowesfield
Whiteparish
Salisbury
SP5 2RB

www.forge-ds.co.uk

Forge Design Studio asserts its rights under the
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, unless
otherwise agreed in writing. All rights reserved.

Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this
drawing. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions
are in millimetres unless otherwise stated. All dimensions
and setting out co-ordinates shall be checked on site
prior to work commencing. Any discrepancies shall be
reported to Forge Design Studio.

SNUG / LIVING

1

Drawing no: PL009

Project no: 202018

Scale: 1:50 @ A3

Checked by: MH

Drawn by: LM

Status: For Planning

Revision: A

Date: June 2021

Date: June 2021

The existing kitchen is in the darkest part of the plan and the opening, as it stands, does not provide enough light into the kitchen and the
applicants have to use artificial light in the space at all times of the day. The enlarging of this opening will allow as much light back into the
historic building as possible and will create a more desirable access into the new extension. The design aims to ensure that the legibility
from old to new is strong by retaining the step up and change in level that already exists between the two spaces. Ceiling heights proposed
will not be seamless from one to another to strengthen this design rationale. We believe that this elevation of the historic building has had
extensive alterations over its life time including openings / blocked up original openings and the installation of the existing lean to structure
(see design and access statement for further information.) Due to this, the building fabric which we propose to remove will more likely be of
modern construction and will not result in the loss of historic fabric.

EXISTING OPENING FROM KITCHEN TO CONSERVATORY

Key:
1. line of existing conservatory
2. line of existing lean to structure
3. existing opening to be increased
4. existing kitchen reconfigured to form utility area

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Page 49

BED 4

3

EN SUITE

Proposed Second Floor Plan

Bath House, Middlebridge Street, Romsey

C.Cooper & M.Pooley

cup'd

5

2

4
BED 3

BED 5

REV A: 17.06.21
- design of roof amended to ease impact on
neighbouring property
- solar shading reduced to corner glazing only

Revisions:

Hatch

3

1

cup'd

0

1

2

3

info@forge-ds.co.uk
studio 01794 885872

Forge Design Studio
Cowesfield
Whiteparish
Salisbury
SP5 2RB

www.forge-ds.co.uk

Forge Design Studio asserts its rights under the
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, unless
otherwise agreed in writing. All rights reserved.

Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this
drawing. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions
are in millimetres unless otherwise stated. All dimensions
and setting out co-ordinates shall be checked on site
prior to work commencing. Any discrepancies shall be
reported to Forge Design Studio.

Drawing no: PL011

Project no: 202018

Scale: 1:50 @ A3

Checked by: MH

Drawn by: LM

Status: For Planning

Revision: A

Date: June 2021

Date: June 2021

Key:
1. former walling to staircase re-instated
2. existing en-suite / walls to be removed
3. new en-suite facility
4. bedroom orientated to the garden
5. access to under eaves storage

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

STREET

Page 50

99

89

|

Proposed Site / Roof Plan

Bath House, Middlebridge Street, Romsey

C.Cooper & M.Pooley

REV A: 17.06.21
- design of roof amended to ease impact on
neighbouring property
- solar shading reduced to corner glazing only

Revisions:
0

1

2

3

4

5

info@forge-ds.co.uk
studio 01794 885872

Forge Design Studio
Cowesfield
Whiteparish
Salisbury
SP5 2RB

www.forge-ds.co.uk

|
Forge Design Studio asserts its rights under the
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, unless
otherwise agreed in writing. All rights reserved.

Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this
drawing. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions
are in millimetres unless otherwise stated. All dimensions
and setting out co-ordinates shall be checked on site
prior to work commencing. Any discrepancies shall be
reported to Forge Design Studio.

Drawing no: PL008

Project no: 202018

Scale: 1:100 @ A3

Checked by: MH

Drawn by: LM

Status: For Planning

Revision: A

Date: June 2021

Date: June 2021

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Existing / Proposed Massing_sht 1

info@forge-ds.co.uk
studio 01794 885872

Forge Design Studio asserts its rights under the
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, unless
otherwise agreed in writing. All rights reserved.

Bath House, Middlebridge Street, Romsey

Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this
drawing. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions
are in millimetres unless otherwise stated. All dimensions
and setting out co-ordinates shall be checked on site
prior to work commencing. Any discrepancies shall be
reported to Forge Design Studio.

Drawn by: LM

Forge Design Studio
Cowesfield
Whiteparish
Salisbury
SP5 2RB

REV A: 17.06.21
- design of roof amended to ease impact on
neighbouring property
- solar shading reduced to corner glazing only
- proposed flue amended

Drawing no: PL014

Project no: 202018

Scale: NTS @ A3

Checked by: MH

Status: For Planning
www.forge-ds.co.uk

PROPOSED MASSING

Revisions:

Page 51

C.Cooper & M.Pooley

EXISTING MASSING

Revision: A

Date: June 2021

Date: June 2021

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

ITEM 10
APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

AMENDMENTS
CASE OFFICER

21/01528/LBWS
LISTED BUILDING WORKS - SOUTH
20.05.2021
Clare Cooper
91-93 Bath House, Middlebridge Street, Romsey,
SO51 8HJ, ROMSEY TOWN
Removal of existing rear conservatory and lean-to
structure, rear garden room extension and internal
alterations
Miss Ash James

Background paper (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
The application is presented to Southern Area Planning Committee at the
request of a Member, for the reason “because it raises issues of more than
local public interest.”

2.0
2.1

SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION
Bath House is a Grade II Listed Building, which lies within Romsey
Conservation Area.

3.0
3.1

PROPOSAL
Removal of existing rear conservatory and lean-to structure, rear garden room
extension and internal alterations

4.0
4.1

HISTORY
None Relevant.

5.0
5.1

CONSULTATIONS
Conservation: No Objection.

6.0
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS Expired 01.10.2021
Romsey Town Council: Objection
 The high mass of the proposed flank wall poses a significant visual
imposition on the amenity of the neighbouring property
87-89 Middlebridge Street: Objection (received 14.06.2021, no further
comments received for amended drawings)
 Impact of size and reduction of light
 Not accurate sketch of no. 87-89
 Toilet window closer to the boundary, would like reduction in total length
of the extension
 Request information of the extent of foundation excavation measures
taken to preserve the boundary wall and rectify disturbance on side of
87-89 Middlebridge St

Page 52

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Officer note: the objections raised from third parties have been addressed in
the application for planning permission 21/01527/FULLS
7.0
7.1

POLICY
Government Guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

7.2

Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)(RLP)
Policy E9 – Heritage

8.0
8.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main planning considerations are:
 Impact on the Listed Building

8.2

Impact on the Listed Building
The main planning consideration is whether the proposed works would provide
harm to the listed building, in terms of its fabric, setting or appearance, and in
accordance with Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, which places a statutory duty upon decision
makers to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the listed
building or its setting.

8.3

The NPPF advises that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and
should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance. Paragraph
193 of the Framework states that when considering the impact of a proposed
development on the significance of a heritage asset, great weight should be
given to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, the greater
weight there should be.

8.4

Revised drawings have been submitted to overcome the initial concerns raised
by the conservation officer, in relation to the historic fabric of the building.
There are no objections to the works proposed, however, conditions have been
included to ensure that the significance of the heritage asset is sustained in
accordance with Policy E9 of the Test Valley Borough Local Plan 2016. The
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

9.0
9.1

CONCLUSION
The proposal has a neutral impact on the historic character of the listed
building, is considered acceptable subject to conditions, and in accordance
with Policy E9 of the Test Valley Borough Council Revised Local Plan,
Sections 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990, and Paragraph 193 of the NPPF.

10.0 RECOMMENDATION
CONSENT subject to:
1.
The works hereby consented to shall be begun within three years
from the date of this permission.

Page 53

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 18 of the
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, as
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.
2.
No development shall commence until large scale details of all
external joinery including metal-framed glazing (1:5 elevation, 1:2
section) including vertical and horizontal cross-sections through
openings to show the positions of joinery within openings, depth of
reveal, heads, sills and lintels.
Reason: To ensure that the significance of the heritage asset is
sustained in accordance with Policy E9 of the Test Valley Borough
Local Plan 2016.
3.
No development shall take place until full samples and details of the
proposed materials are first submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall proceed in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the significance of the heritage asset is
sustained in accordance with Policy E9 of the Test Valley Borough
Local Plan 2016.
4.
Prior to the first floor opening being created, details how the
opening will be made good shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall
proceed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the significance of the heritage asset is
sustained in accordance with Policy E9 of the Test Valley Borough
Local Plan 2016.
5.
The extension hereby approved shall not be erected until full details,
including scale drawings, of the junction between the proposed
extension and the rear elevation of the host building have submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall proceed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the significance of the heritage asset is
sustained in accordance with Policy E9 of the Test Valley Borough
Local Plan 2016.
Note to applicant:
1.
In reaching this decision Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) has
had regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and takes a
positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused
on solutions. TVBC work with applicants and their agents in a
positive and proactive manner offering a pre-application advice
service and updating applicants/agents of issues that may arise in
dealing with the application and where possible suggesting
solutions.

Page 54

48

to 2

1

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

19

31
23

35

49
53

56 to 61

FB

31

Church

Bridgemead

19

1 to

6

Drain

45

16

CH
AV
Y

1

W
AT
ER

FB

25

1

55

4

m

51
53

49

Bridge
Court

13
.1

10

22

FB
24

9
28

Brook Court

39

15
30

5

5

FB
FB

69

1

ET

42

FB

MI
D

78

1 to 37
Homemead
House

89

84

91 3
9

46
48 W
St ate
50
ud rm
io il
a
0
s l
5

99
3
10

M

FB

C
t

Middlebridge
House

2
to 7

1
St to
ep 10
he
ns

75

69

ST
RE

81

a

DL

81

EB
RI
DG
E

Riverside
House

83

S

95
97

ds
lan

80

S
EN
RD
GA

37

rry
Be

E
ID
RS

E

N
DE

30

VE
RI

ID
RS
VE
RI

R
GA

id
dl
eb
r id

a
56

ESS

s

74

ew

10

M

FBs

ge

LB

52

73

56

5
11
1
12 3
12

2

.2 m

58

1

12

45
o1

12

7
11

11

5

9t
13

12

a
68

PH
5
13

7
13

68b

3
15

K

Bark Mill Mews

5a
13 to
s
se
5d
ou
13
sh
m
Al
ts
en

66

i
Dra

n

12.2m
A SS
BY-P

D
RO A

Dr

ai n

Middlebridge

N

6

26

Su El
bS
ta

Siteplan

REPRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING
WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF
HER MAJESTY’S STATIONERY OFFICER © CROWN COPYRIGHT.
UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT
AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.
TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL LICENCE No. 100024295 2013

21/01528/LBWS
Page 55

REV A: 17.06.21
- design of roof amended to ease impact on
neighbouring property
- solar shading reduced to corner glazing only
- proposed flue amended

Bath House, Middlebridge Street, Romsey

Proposed Elevations

Revisions:

ELEVATION 02

48.32 FFL

50.67

C.Cooper & M.Pooley

Page 56

51.16

51.84

ELEVATION 01

48.32 FFL

50.67

51.16

51.84

0

1

2

3

4

01
01

5

02

info@forge-ds.co.uk
studio 01794 885872

Forge Design Studio
Cowesfield
Whiteparish
Salisbury
SP5 2RB

www.forge-ds.co.uk

Forge Design Studio asserts its rights under the
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, unless
otherwise agreed in writing. All rights reserved.

Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this
drawing. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions
are in millimetres unless otherwise stated. All dimensions
and setting out co-ordinates shall be checked on site
prior to work commencing. Any discrepancies shall be
reported to Forge Design Studio.

Drawing no: PL012

Project no: 202018

Scale: 1:100 @ A3

Checked by: MH

Drawn by: LM

Status: For Planning

Revision: A

Date: June 2021

Date: June 2021

02

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

FORMAL DINING

RECEPTION AREA

cup'd

Proposed Ground Floor

Bath House, Middlebridge Street, Romsey

C.Cooper & M.Pooley

Page 57

W/C

PANTRY

WINE
CELLAR

REV A: 17.06.21
- photographs added to demonstrate the need
for the existing opening to be enlarged
- positioning of "FireBob" log burner amended,
creating a subtle flue arrangement through the
flat roof section

Revisions:

UTILITY

4

FORMAL LIVING ROOM

750

3

0

2

1

KITCHEN

2

DINING

3

info@forge-ds.co.uk
studio 01794 885872

Forge Design Studio
Cowesfield
Whiteparish
Salisbury
SP5 2RB

www.forge-ds.co.uk

Forge Design Studio asserts its rights under the
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, unless
otherwise agreed in writing. All rights reserved.

Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this
drawing. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions
are in millimetres unless otherwise stated. All dimensions
and setting out co-ordinates shall be checked on site
prior to work commencing. Any discrepancies shall be
reported to Forge Design Studio.

SNUG / LIVING

1

Drawing no: PL009

Project no: 202018

Scale: 1:50 @ A3

Checked by: MH

Drawn by: LM

Status: For Planning

Revision: A

Date: June 2021

Date: June 2021

The existing kitchen is in the darkest part of the plan and the opening, as it stands, does not provide enough light into the kitchen and the
applicants have to use artificial light in the space at all times of the day. The enlarging of this opening will allow as much light back into the
historic building as possible and will create a more desirable access into the new extension. The design aims to ensure that the legibility
from old to new is strong by retaining the step up and change in level that already exists between the two spaces. Ceiling heights proposed
will not be seamless from one to another to strengthen this design rationale. We believe that this elevation of the historic building has had
extensive alterations over its life time including openings / blocked up original openings and the installation of the existing lean to structure
(see design and access statement for further information.) Due to this, the building fabric which we propose to remove will more likely be of
modern construction and will not result in the loss of historic fabric.

EXISTING OPENING FROM KITCHEN TO CONSERVATORY

Key:
1. line of existing conservatory
2. line of existing lean to structure
3. existing opening to be increased
4. existing kitchen reconfigured to form utility area

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Page 58

BED 4

3

EN SUITE

Proposed Second Floor Plan

Bath House, Middlebridge Street, Romsey

C.Cooper & M.Pooley

cup'd

5

2

4
BED 3

BED 5

REV A: 17.06.21
- design of roof amended to ease impact on
neighbouring property
- solar shading reduced to corner glazing only

Revisions:

Hatch

3

1

cup'd

0

1

2

3

info@forge-ds.co.uk
studio 01794 885872

Forge Design Studio
Cowesfield
Whiteparish
Salisbury
SP5 2RB

www.forge-ds.co.uk

Forge Design Studio asserts its rights under the
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, unless
otherwise agreed in writing. All rights reserved.

Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this
drawing. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions
are in millimetres unless otherwise stated. All dimensions
and setting out co-ordinates shall be checked on site
prior to work commencing. Any discrepancies shall be
reported to Forge Design Studio.

Drawing no: PL011

Project no: 202018

Scale: 1:50 @ A3

Checked by: MH

Drawn by: LM

Status: For Planning

Revision: A

Date: June 2021

Date: June 2021

Key:
1. former walling to staircase re-instated
2. existing en-suite / walls to be removed
3. new en-suite facility
4. bedroom orientated to the garden
5. access to under eaves storage

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

STREET

Page 59

99

89

|

Proposed Site / Roof Plan

Bath House, Middlebridge Street, Romsey

C.Cooper & M.Pooley

REV A: 17.06.21
- design of roof amended to ease impact on
neighbouring property
- solar shading reduced to corner glazing only

Revisions:
0

1

2

3

4

5

info@forge-ds.co.uk
studio 01794 885872

Forge Design Studio
Cowesfield
Whiteparish
Salisbury
SP5 2RB

www.forge-ds.co.uk

|
Forge Design Studio asserts its rights under the
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, unless
otherwise agreed in writing. All rights reserved.

Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this
drawing. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions
are in millimetres unless otherwise stated. All dimensions
and setting out co-ordinates shall be checked on site
prior to work commencing. Any discrepancies shall be
reported to Forge Design Studio.

Drawing no: PL008

Project no: 202018

Scale: 1:100 @ A3

Checked by: MH

Drawn by: LM

Status: For Planning

Revision: A

Date: June 2021

Date: June 2021

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Existing / Proposed Massing_sht 1

info@forge-ds.co.uk
studio 01794 885872

Forge Design Studio asserts its rights under the
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, unless
otherwise agreed in writing. All rights reserved.

Bath House, Middlebridge Street, Romsey

Figured dimensions only are to be taken from this
drawing. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions
are in millimetres unless otherwise stated. All dimensions
and setting out co-ordinates shall be checked on site
prior to work commencing. Any discrepancies shall be
reported to Forge Design Studio.

Drawn by: LM

Forge Design Studio
Cowesfield
Whiteparish
Salisbury
SP5 2RB

REV A: 17.06.21
- design of roof amended to ease impact on
neighbouring property
- solar shading reduced to corner glazing only
- proposed flue amended

Drawing no: PL014

Project no: 202018

Scale: NTS @ A3

Checked by: MH

Status: For Planning
www.forge-ds.co.uk

PROPOSED MASSING

Revisions:

Page 60

C.Cooper & M.Pooley

EXISTING MASSING

Revision: A

Date: June 2021

Date: June 2021

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

ITEM 11

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL
AMENDMENTS
CASE OFFICER

21/02530/FULLS
FULL APPLICATION - SOUTH
27.08.2021
Mr and Mrs Davidson
20 The Harrage, Romsey, SO51 8AE,
ROMSEY TOWN
Single storey side extension
Mr Gregory Anderson

Background paper (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
The application is presented to Southern Area Planning Committee at the
request of a member.

2.0
2.1

HISTORY
TVS.02921 - Erection of front and rear porches. Permission subject to
conditions - 04/03/80.

2.2

TVS.07030 - Extension to summerhouse and store with the erection of linking
conservatory. Permission subject to conditions - 12.01.1993

3.0
3.1

CONSULTATIONS
TVBC Trees – No objection (subject to conditions)

4.0
4.1

REPRESENTATIONS Expired 22.09.2021
Romsey Town Council – Objection
 Goes beyond current building line. Detriment to design and character of
estate. To allow this would set a precedent for others.
3 The Harrage – Support
 This is to confirm that, as near neighbours, we fully support this
application. We feel it is appropriate and in keeping with other
properties in the area.

5.0
5.1

POLICY
Government Guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

5.2

Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)(TVBRLP)
Policy SD1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Policy COM2 – Settlement Hierarchy
Policy E1 – High Quality Development in the Borough

Page 61

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Policy E2 – Protect, Conserve and Enhance the Landscape Character of the
Borough
Policy E5 – Biodiversity
Policy LHW4 – Amenity
Policy T2 – Parking Standards
5.3

Supplementary Planning Document
Look at Romsey – Area 9 Romsey Town Centre Outer Core: Romsey Town
Design Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (January 2008)

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main planning considerations are:
 Principle of development
 Impact on the character and appearance of the area
 Impact on amenity of neighbouring property
 Impact on trees
 Impact on ecology
 Impact on parking provision

6.2

Principle of development
The sites lies within the settlement boundary as defined on the Inset Maps of
the TVBRLP. In accordance with Policy COM2 of the TVBRLP development is
permitted provided the proposal is appropriate to other policies of the Revised
Local Plan. The proposal is assessed against relevant policies below.

6.3

Impact on the character and appearance of the area
The development comprises a single storey side extension to the east
elevation of the dwelling for use as a utility/porch area. The comments of the
Town Council are noted however it is not considered the proposal will be
detrimental to the design and character of the surrounding area for the
following reasons. While public views of the development would be possible,
the extension is set back from the highway and partially screened by the trees
present in the area. The extension does extend beyond the current building
line however it is considered to be of an appropriate size and design in relation
to the existing dwellinghouse and with other similar examples of side
extensions present within the street scene (No.8 and No.10) it is considered
the development would integrate and respect the character of the area. Any
glimpsed views of the proposal would be seen in the context of the existing
dwelling and in this respect the proposal would not adversely affect the
character and appearance of the area, in compliance with Policies COM2 and
E1 of the TVBRLP.

6.4

Impact on amenity of neighbouring property
By virtue of the size (bulk and mass) and design of the proposal, it’s
juxtaposition relative to neighbouring property, and the nature of the
intervening boundary treatment the proposal would not give rise to an adverse
impact on the living conditions of neighbouring properties/property by virtue of
loss of daylight, sun light, or privacy. The proposal is in accordance with Policy
LHW4 of the TVBRLP.

Page 62

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

6.5

Impact on trees
TPO.TVBC.980 protects the Birch trees and the Magnolia close to the house
along with many other trees in The Harrage.

6.6

The application is supported by an arboricultural impact assessment and tree
protection measure which sets out how the trees will be protected during the
development. There will be little impact to the retained trees from this proposal
if all works are undertaken in accordance with the arboricultural information. It
is shown that the ‘stepping stone’ path to the side of the house is to be
retained and be the access path to the new extension. Due to this passing
through the RPA of T2 Birch if this is to be upgraded at any point to a more
substantial path it must be undertaken in a ‘tree friendly’ way as not to damage
the roots and rooting area of the tree. It would be advisable to gain advice from
a suitably qualified arboriculturalist if this path is to be upgraded in the future.

6.7

It is noted that T1 Birch is proposed to be felled due to its declining health, no
objection is raised to this, but a replacement planting condition is attached to
the permission to ensure continuation of tree cover in the area. Although the
arboricultural information has stated two different tree types for replacement
planting in this instance a like for like replacement is considered the most
appropriate.ie – Silver Birch.

6.8

Subject to conditions for the development to be undertaken in accordance with
the provisions set out within the Genesis Design Studio Arboricultural Impact
Statement and Tree protection plan reference KTML29421 and a replacement
Silver Birch tree to be planted following the felling of T1 Birch hereby
permitted, the development is considered to have no adverse impact on trees
in accordance with Policy E2 of the TVBRLP.

6.9

Impact on ecology
The proposal is not considered to give rise to any adverse impacts on existing
habitat or on-site ecology, in accordance with Policy E5 of the TVBRLP.

6.10

Impact on parking provision
The proposal does not give rise to an additional demand for car parking or
result in the loss of existing car parking spaces to serve the dwelling, in
accordance with the parking standards as set out in Annex G and Policy T2 of
the TVBRLP.

7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
The proposal is considered acceptable and in accordance with the policies of
the TVBRLP.

8.0

RECOMMENDATION
PERMISSION subject to:
1.
The development hereby permitted shall be begun within three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 91 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Page 63

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

2.

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in
complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted
plans, numbers:
8111/P01
8111/P05
8111/P06
8111/P07
Tree Protection Plan
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.
3.
The external materials to be used in the construction of all external
surfaces of the development hereby permitted shall be in
accordance with the details specified on the application form and
approved plans.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual relationship of the new
development with the existing in accordance with Test Valley
Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1.
4.
The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in full
accordance with the provisions set out within the Genesis Design
Studio Arboricultural Impact Statement and Tree protection plan
reference KTML29421 dated August 2021.
Reason: To ensure the enhancement of the development by the
retention of existing trees and natural features during the
construction phase in accordance with Test Valley Borough
Revised Local Plan policy E2.
5.
Within the first planting season following the felling of T1 Birch
hereby permitted, a replacement Birch tree, of standard nursery
stock size or larger, shall be planted in a location as close as
reasonably possible to the stump of T1 as possible.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and the appearance of the
locality in accordance with E2 within the Test Valley Borough
Revised Local Plan.
6.
If any tree planted in discharge of the previous condition, within a
period of five years from the date of planting, (or any other tree
planted in replacement for it) is removed, uprooted, destroyed or
dies, another tree of the same size and species shall be planted in
the same place, or as may be agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to perpetuate the level of tree cover of the area.
Note to Applicant:
1.
In reaching this decision Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) has
had regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and takes a
positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused
on solutions. TVBC work with applicants and their agents in a
positive and proactive manner offering a pre-application advice
service and updating applicants/agents of issues that may arise in
dealing with the application and where possible suggesting
solutions.

Page 64

7

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee
- 23 November 2021
8
3

Fire
Station

ESS

51

36

urt
Co
gs
Kin o 8
t
1

28

Filling
Station

22
H

ER

A
RO

D

43

1t

35

2

NC
WI

T
ES

o4
Adelaide
House

1
3

PH
25

4

5

13

3

4
12

N
AD
RO

123

12

O
PT
AM

a
24
a
22

24

English
Court

36

3
11

H
UT
SO

32

2
1

5

22
6

26

11

a
12
20

12

a
111

FB
7

a
10

10

14
E
TH

RR
HA

3

E
AG

FB
8

59

53

6

2

FB

39

FB
29

15

51
ED

27
37

nL
bur
Tad

ar d
&W
CR

y
Bd

ak e

17.1m

AD
SS RO
BY PA

N

Siteplan

REPRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING
WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF
HER MAJESTY’S STATIONERY OFFICER © CROWN COPYRIGHT.
UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT
AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.
TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL LICENCE No. 100024295 2013

21/02530/FULLS
Page 65

north

97

100

101

99a

99b

Brinton House

ED
DR
UN
EH
TH

15

2

6

29

8

a
12

12

39

14

25

50

SCALE - 1:1250 @ A3

SITE LOCATION PLAN

0

75

100 M

Ordnance Survey (c) Crown Copyright 2021. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

Page 66
53

GE
RA
AR
EH
TH

22

a
22

a
24

20

59

24

3

26

7

E

10

HA

A
RR

GE

SCALE - 1:500 @ A3

BLOCK PLAN

0

TH

a

22

22

20

24

a

20

30 M

24

3

26

C

SITE LOCATION & BLOCK PLANS

PHB

The Genesis Design Studio Ltd

8111/P01

Checked
Drawn

PHB

20 THE HARRAGE, ROMSEY, SO51 8AE

JUNE 2021
SCALE - 1:1250 & 500 @ A3

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

ISTING
EXISTING
SOUTH ELEVATION
SOUTH ELEVATION

0

5

INGEXISTING
NORTH ELEVATION
NORTH ELEVATION

Page 67

10

Slate roof tiles
Slate roof tiles

Brickwork Brickwork

15

20 M

EXISTINGEXISTING
EAST ELEVATION
EAST ELEVATION

EXISTING
EXISTING
WEST ELEVATION
WEST ELEVATION

Imitation lead
Imitation
batten roll
leadroof
batten roll roof

Lantern rooflight
Lantern rooflight

C

The Genesis Design Studio Ltd

Imitation lead batten
Imitation
rolllead
roofbatten roll roof

Lantern rooflight
Lantern rooflight

PHB

uPVC windows
uPVC windows

SCALE - 1:100 @ A3

EXISTING ELEVATIONS

8111/P04

Checked
Drawn

PHB

20 THE HARRAGE, ROMSEY, SO51 8AE

White timberWhite
cladding
timber cladding

AUGUST 2021
Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

PROPOSED SOUTH ELEVATION

0

5

PROPOSED EAST ELEVATION

ELEVATION

Page 68

10

15

Brickwork

PROPOSED WEST ELEVATION

PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION

20 M

Composite timber cladding

Imitation lead batten roll roof
to match existing

Composite uPVC windows and door

Composite timber cladding

Imitation lead batten roll roof
to match existing

Brickwork

Imitation lead batten roll roof
to match existing

C

SCALE - 1:100 @ A3

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

PHB

The Genesis Design Studio Ltd

8111/P07

Checked
Drawn

PHB

20 THE HARRAGE, ROMSEY, SO51 8AE

AUGUST 2021
Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

rth

Page 69

0

NR 22

5

REAR GARDEN

RP

FAMILY ROOM

A

birch
tree

10

15

EXISTING GROUND FLOOR PLAN

SNUG

RPA

birch
tree

GARAGE

20 M

grass

NR 18

LOUNGE

DINING ROOM

KITCHEN

path

HALLWAY

path

grass

path

driveway

magnolia

C

EXISTING GROUND FLOOR PLAN

Checked
Drawn

PHB
PHB

The Genesis Design Studio Ltd

20 THE HARRAGE, ROMSEY, SO51 8AE

no

A

8111/P02a

RP

22

AUGUST 2021
SCALE - 1:100 @ A3

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

rth

0

NR 22

5

t/d

A

UTILITY/PORCH

4335

FAMILY ROOM

w/m

REAR GARDEN

bins

RP

birch

10

15

PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN

SNUG

RPA

birch

GARAGE

20 M

grass

NR 18

LOUNGE

DINING ROOM

KITCHEN

path

HALLWAY

path

grass

path

driveway

magnolia

C

PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN

Checked
Drawn

PHB
PHB

The Genesis Design Studio Ltd

20 THE HARRAGE, ROMSEY, SO51 8AE

no

22

Page 70

8111/P05

1500

AUGUST 2021
SCALE - 1:100 @ A3

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

coats

Page 71
C

The Genesis Design Studio Ltd

8111/P08

PROPOSED VIEW FROM SOUTH EAST

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

20 THE HARRAGE, ROMSEY, SO51 8AE

AUGUST 2021
Checked

Drawn

PHB

PHB

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

ITEM 12

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL
AMENDMENTS
CASE OFFICER

21/02904/FULLS
FULL APPLICATION - SOUTH
05.10.2021
Mr and Mrs Savage
Warblers Cottage, Chapel Lane, Timsbury,
SO51 0NW, MICHELMERSH AND TIMSBURY
Alterations and single storey extension
None
Kate Levey

Background paper (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
The application has been called to Southern Area Planning Committee at the
request of a member.

2.0
2.1

SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION
The application site is a detached, Grade II listed two storey dwelling located
on the north side of Chapel Lane in the settlement area of Timsbury. The
existing property also includes a two storey garage outbuilding in close
proximity to the side (west) and rear (north) elevation of the main dwelling.

3.0
3.1

PROPOSAL
The proposal is for the erection of an extension measuring approximately 9.1
metres by 6.9 metres by 5 metres. The proposed development would adjoin
the rear (north) elevation of the existing dwelling at its eastern end, this link will
be provided by way of a modest element with a footprint of approximately 0.7
metres by 1.5 metres, and the ridge height of the link is approximately 3.9
metres.

4.0
4.1

HISTORY
Dismissed appeal: APP/C1760/W/19/3232988 relating to 19/00301/FULLS.
Copy of appeal decision attached at appendix A

4.2

Dismissed appeal: APP/C1760/Y/19/323984 relating to 19/00302/LBWS.
Copy of appeal decision attached at appendix A

4.3

19/00301/FULLS Erection of two storey rear extension to provide additional
living, and associated works. Refuse 18.04.2019

4.4

19/00302/LBWS - Erection of two storey rear extension to provide additional
living, and associated works. Refuse 18.04.2019

Page 72

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

4.5

18/00636/LBWS - Minor crack repair to front elevation and to the inside of the
front porch; painting front elevation and exterior and interior of porch. Consent
subject to conditions and notes, decision issued on 18.04.2019.

4.6

17/02436/LBWS - Two storey linked extension to rear of the building to provide
kitchen and lounge diner with bedroom and bathroom accommodation over,
alterations to the layout of existing listed building, and levelling and
refurbishment of floor, alterations and conversion of garage into
office/workshop on the ground floor and bedroom on the first floor, including
conversion of external staircase to balcony, and erection of covered walkway.
Application withdrawn on 20.11.2017.

4.7

17/02435/FULLS - Two storey linked extension to rear of the building to
provide kitchen and lounge diner with bedroom and bathroom accommodation
over, alterations and conversion of garage into office/workshop on the ground
floor and bedroom on the first floor, including conversion of external staircase
to balcony, erection of covered walkway from existing cottage to existing
garage, and erection of detached garage/store. Application withdrawn on
20.11.2017.

4.8

TVS.09426 - Replacement of existing garage and potting shed with oak framed
garage, potting shed and garden store and studio at first floor level. Permission
subject to conditions and notes.

5.0
5.1

CONSULTATIONS
Conservation – at the time of writing this report no formal written comments
have been received, however verbally objections have been received and
formal written comments will be included within the update paper.

5.2

Ecology – at the time of writing this report no comment has yet been received,
however this will be included within the update paper.

5.3

Trees - at the time of writing this report no comment has yet been received,
however this will be included within the update paper.

6.0
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS Expires 05.11.2021
Michelmersh and Timsbury Parish Council – no objection

7.0
7.1

POLICY
Government Guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas Act) 1990

7.2

Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)(TVBRLP)
Policy SD1: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Policy COM2: Settlement Hierarchy
Policy E1: High Quality Development in the Borough
Policy E2: Protect, Conserve and Enhance the Landscape Character of the
Borough

Page 73

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Policy E5: Biodiversity
Policy E9: Heritage
Policy LHW4: Amenity
Policy T1: Managing Movement
Policy T2: Parking Standards
7.3

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD)
Michelmersh and Timsbury Village Design Statement (2001)

8.0
8.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main planning considerations are:
 Principle of development
 Character and appearance of the area
 Heritage
 Biodiversity
 Neighbouring amenity
 Highways
 Parking provision

8.2

Principle of development
The application site lies within the settlement boundary of Timsbury as defined
on the Inset Maps of the TVBRLP. In accordance with Policy COM2 of the
TVBRLP, development is permitted provided the proposal is appropriate to the
other policies of the TVBRLP. The proposal is assessed against relevant
policies below.

8.3

Heritage
Sections 16(2) and 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990 require special regard to be had to the desirability of
preserving the listed building or its setting or any features of special
architectural or historical interest which it possesses.

8.4

In relation to the assessment of the proposal on designated heritage assets,
Paragraph 199 of the NPPF sets out that great weight should given to the
assets conservation, stating as follows:
When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of
the heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation
(and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is
irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total
loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.

8.5

Furthermore, paragraph 202 of the NPPF asserts that any harm to the
significance of the heritage asset should be weighed against any public
benefits:
Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed
against the public benefits of the proposal, including, where appropriate,
securing its optimum viable use.

Page 74

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

8.6

In addition, Policy E9 of the TVBRLP is pertinent to development affecting
heritage assets and states as follows:
Development and/or works affecting a heritage asset will be permitted provided
that:
a) it would make a positive contribution to sustaining or enhancing the
significance of the heritage asset taking account of its character,
appearance and setting; and
b) the significance of the heritage asset has informed the proposal through
an assessment proportionate to its importance.

8.7

In this instance, the host property is a Grade II listed dwelling and in addition,
the neighbouring properties to the west, Wealden and Elizabethan Cottage are
also Grade II listed. Therefore, it is necessary to consider the impact of the
proposal on the historical significance of these designated heritage assets.

8.8

Assessment of the impact on Warblers Cottage
Warblers Cottage is listed at Grade II and comprises a 17th century timberframed building with brick repairs and a brick extension to the eastern end,
added in the 1940s. The existing building is mostly painted, although some of
the later brickwork is exposed. With the exception of the 1940s extension,
which is single-storey, the cottage is 1 and half storeys under a thatched roof
with eyebrow dormers. There is a gabled tiled brick porch roof with an old
plank door in the centre of the front elevation and chimney stacks on either
end.

8.9

It is considered that one of the historically significant characteristics of the
cottage is its form, both in terms of its modest size and that it has been largely
unaltered, remaining as a simple linear building. However, survival of this plan
form is rare and therefore where it has not been compromised as in this case
here, it is important that the existing plan form is conserved. In relation to this
consideration, it is noted that Warblers Cottage was listed as a nationally
important example of a building of its type. The 1940s extension adjoining the
side (east) elevation is modest and follows the building line, which keeps its
impact to a minimum. So few buildings of this type have survived so unaltered,
and this rarity makes its preservation all the more important.

8.10

For this reason, it would be very difficult to extend the building through a rear
(north) projection without harming its significance. The extension as proposed
is not considered acceptable, as this would fundamentally alter the character of
the cottage from being linear to an ‘L’. As a result of the proposed layout and
siting of the development, the proposal serves to erode the historically
significant plan form of the building, adversely impacting its special interest.

8.11

In addition to the direct impact on the cottage, the proposed extension would
also have an effect on its setting, especially as it would be visible in views of
the front of the building from Chapel Lane. Traditionally, it would not possible
to see a rear extension in context with the front elevation. The visibility of the
proposed extension from the front draws attention to the size of the extension,

Page 75

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

and prevents it appearing subservient because it appears too large to be
hidden by the host building. As a result, the proposed extension affects all
areas of the listed cottage, including the principal elevation whereas a more
proportionate rear extension would at least be screened by the building from
the front. Consequently, there is harm to the appearance of the whole of the
cottage and for the purposes of the NPPF, this harm is considered to be less
than substantial.
8.12

In addition, it is not considered that the proposal assumes a wholly ‘traditional’
appearance although it is proposed to be finished in weather boarding, which
is common for ancillary buildings in this area. However, the proposed glazing
present including the apex window in the rear (north) elevation, the domestic
style of the other windows, and the large amount of glazing on the side (west)
elevation, the glass within the roof of the link and the form of the building
cumulatively prevent the proposal from assuming a convincing appearance as
an outbuilding. The proposed detailing and materials of the extension draws
more attention to it, detracting from the setting of the historic cottage and again
resulting in adverse harm considered to be less than substantial.

8.13

The existing property may well have been some form of agricultural labourer’s
dwelling, however, it is unlikely that it was ever a farmstead in its own right
given its style and modest size. The historic mapping does not appear to show
any outbuildings associated with it. Consequently, there is no precedent for
barn-type buildings, as the style of the proposed extension might be argued to
be, in this location, and it would either be an incongruous feature or would
have the potential to be misleading. Either would be harmful to appreciating
the special interest of the site especially combined with the existing outbuilding
which does not serve to set a precedent for extensions to the cottage or other
buildings on site.

8.14

It is noted that the proposed extension would be attached to the 1940s
extension by a narrow link and would therefore not conceal or damage any
historic fabric. As such, the proposal is considered to have a neutral impact on
the historic fabric of the designated heritage asset.

8.15

With regard to any potential public benefits to outweigh the harm identified, as
directed by the NPPF, this has not been demonstrated. It is acknowledged that
the use of the existing property to serve a local housing need would constitute
a public benefit. However, it is understood from the supporting statement and
previous planning history (application reference 18/00636/LBWS), that the
cottage has recently been repaired and refurbished. However, it does not
appear the need for work resulted from the cottage not being viable as a
dwelling and having therefore remained unoccupied for a protracted period
with associated decay. Rather, the building was in the same ownership for a
protracted period, and very little significant work has been done to it for some
time.

Page 76

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

8.16

The existing dwelling comprises two bedrooms, two reception rooms, a
kitchen, and an upstairs bathroom. It would be difficult, therefore, to argue it is
not a viable dwelling not capable of serving a local housing need in its current
state. The property has also benefitted from a substantial outbuilding to the
left, which provides additional domestic accommodation.

8.17

Applications for planning permission and listed building consent for an
extension in the same location were submitted (19/00301/FULLS and
19/00302/LBWS) and were and subsequently refused in April 2019. These
applications proposed the erection of a two storey extension measuring
approximately 7.2m by 6.1m by 5m. The proposed development would adjoin
the rear (north) elevation of the existing dwelling at eastern end, through the
erection of a single storey link, measuring approximately 0.8m by 2m by 2.4m.
The proposed development would serve to provide additional living
accommodation and included the erection of a dormer window and two
rooflights in the side (west) elevation.

8.18

This application proposes a single storey extension with a lower ridge height
than previously considered. The current ridge height considered under this
application is 4.8 metres, and under the previous 2019 the ridge height
proposed was 5.1 metres. The large dormer window on the side (west)
elevation as proposed under the previous 2019 application has been removed,
and has been replaced with large amounts of proposed glazing on this
elevation. The scale, siting and design of the proposed extension is broadly the
same as the 2019 applications previously considered.

8.19

The Inspector’s recent decision for the appeals (APP/C1760/W/19/3232988
and APP/C1760/Y/19/323984 which are attached at appendix a) are important
material considerations. The Inspector commented in paragraph 6 of the
decision notice that due the scale and design of the proposed extension would
not ‘be either physically or visually subsidiary to the listed cottage. Whilst it
would be located to the rear it would still dominate the proportions and plan
form of the existing vernacular cottage’. The Inspector did not find any
significant public benefit arising from the proposal and that securing a more
viable family house would not outweigh the harm to the listed building. As a
result, the Inspector concluded that the proposal would fail to comply with the
requirements of policy E9, and the appeals were dismissed.

8.20

Consequently, as a result of the assessment above it is considered that the
proposed extension would, by reason of its size, design, siting, use of
materials and impact on the building’s plan form, have a harmful impact on the
special interest of Warbler’s Cottage. This harm would be less than substantial
for the purposes of the NPPF and is not outweighed against any public benefit.
As a result, the application is contrary to policy E9 of the TVBRLP in addition to
paragraph 199 of the NPPF.

Page 77

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

8.21

Assessment of the impact on Wealden and Elizabethan Cottage
Due to the intervening distance between the siting of the proposed extension
and both listed properties of Wealden and Elizabethan Cottage, in addition to
the intervening boundary treatment it is not considered that the proposal will
adversely impact the historic significance or setting of either designated
heritage asset.

8.22

Impact on the character and appearance of the area
Policy E1 of the TVBRLP is relates to the design of development and states as
follows:
Development will be permitted if it is of a high quality in terms of design and
local distinctiveness. To achieve this development:
a) should integrate, respect and complement the character of the area in
which the development is located in terms of layout, appearance, scale,
materials and buildings styles;
Development will not permitted if it is of poor design and fails to improve the
character, function and quality of the area.

8.23

Furthermore, the guidance in the Michelmersh and Timsbury Village Design
Statement asserts:
New buildings should be in keeping with the existing designs, proportions and
materials of buildings which are in the surrounding area.

8.24

As a result of the assessment undertaken above from paragraphs 8.3 to 8.18,
it is considered that the proposed development does not respect or
complement the character of the existing dwelling, by virtue of its siting, scale,
form and appearance. Consequently, by virtue of this failure to preserve or
enhance the historic character and significance of the host property, it follows
that the proposal cannot be considered to be high quality design which
improves the quality of the area. As such, the application is contrary to policy
E1 and the guidance in the Michelmersh and Timsbury village design
statement.

8.25

Trees
The application site is characterised by a variety of mature trees, located
predominantly towards the rear (north) of the plot and along the eastern
boundary. The scale and siting of the proposal avoids any conflict with the
canopies and root protection zones of the mature trees. As a result, it is
considered that subject to a condition securing a tree protection plan for the
associated construction phase, in the event that permission was
recommended, the application will preserve the landscape character of the
area in accordance with Policy E2 of the TVRBRLP.

Page 78

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

8.26

Impact on the amenity of neighbouring property
Privacy
In the absence of any neighbouring property in close proximity to the rear
(north) boundary it is not considered that the proposal will materially alter
privacy levels in this direction. With regard to the proposed ground floor
fenestration in the side (east) elevation, it is considered that the screening
provided by the existing boundary vegetation will sufficiently obscure views
towards the neighbouring properties in this direction.

8.27

In relation to the proposed ground floor and first floor windows in the opposite
side (west) elevation, the existing two storey garage outbuilding on this
boundary of the plot will serve to protect the current privacy levels of Bramble
Bank. Consequently, it is considered that the proposal sufficiently provides for
the privacy of neighbouring dwellings.

8.28

Daylight/Sunlight Provision
Due to the orientation of the proposed development in the centre of the plot,
any additional shadow will fall on the host property itself. As a result, it is not
considered that the proposal will adversely impact the daylight or sunlight
provision for any neighbouring property. Consequently, the application
sufficiently provides for the amenity of neighbouring dwellings and is in
accordance with Policy LHW4 of the TVBRLP.

8.29

Ecology
The proposal is supported by an ecological appraisal (Pro Vision, October
2021) and the survey identified that the proposal would not adversely impact
any protected species and proposed a series of measures to enhance
biodiversity on site. No further ecological survey work is proposed. Therefore,
subject to a condition securing the implementation of the proposed
enhancement measures in the event that the proposal was acceptable, it is
considered that the application is in accordance with Policy E5 of the TVBRLP.

8.30

Highways
The proposal would not result in any alterations to the existing vehicular
access and the existing driveway is sufficient for the parking of 3 vehicles on
site. Therefore, it is considered that the proposal will not adversely impact the
highway safety of the local road network, in accordance with Policy T1 and
complies with the minimum parking standards set out in Annex G and Policy
T2 of the TVBRLP.

9.0
9.1

CONCLUSION
In light of the concerns raised regarding the impact of the proposal on the
historical significance of the identified heritage asset, the application is not
considered to comply with Policies COM2, E1 and E9 of the Test Valley
Borough Revised Local Plan (2016). The harm to the heritage asset would be
less than substantial for the purposes of the NPPF and is not outweighed
against any public benefit. Therefore, it is recommended that planning
permission be refused.

Page 79

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

10.0 RECOMMENDATION
REFUSE for the reason:
1.
The siting, scale, form and appearance of the proposed
development is detrimental to the special architectural and historic
importance of the heritage asset and therefore, would result in
unacceptable harm to the character and appearance of the
designated heritage asset. The proposal would not result in any
public benefits to outweigh this harm. As such, the proposal is
considered to be contrary to Policies E1, E9 and COM2 of the Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016), in addition to paragraph
199 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
Note to applicant:
1.
In reaching this decision Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) has
had regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and takes a
positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused
on solutions. TVBC work with applicants and their agents in a
positive and proactive manner offering a pre-application advice
service and updating applicants/agents of issues that may arise in
dealing with the application and where possible suggesting
solutions.

Page 80

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Appeal Decisions
Site visit made on 15 October 2019
by Nick Fagan BSc (Hons) DipTP MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government
Decision date: 4th November 2019

Appeal Ref: APP/C1760/W/19/3232988
Warblers Cottage, Chapel Lane, Timsbury, Romsey, Hampshire SO51 0NW
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by Mr and Mrs Roger and Mary Savage against the decision of Test
Valley Borough Council.
The application Ref 19/00301/FULLS, dated 8 February 2019, was refused by notice
dated 18 April 2019.
The development proposed is erection of a two-storey rear extension and associated
works.

Appeal Ref: APP/C1760/Y/19/3232984
Warblers Cottage, Chapel Lane, Timsbury, Romsey, Hampshire SO51 0NW
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 20 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990 against a refusal to grant listed building consent.
The appeal is made by Mr and Mrs Roger and Mary Savage against the decision of Test
Valley Borough Council.
The application Ref 19/00302/LBWS, dated 8 February 2019, was refused by notice
dated 18 April 2019.
The works proposed are erection of a two-storey rear extension and associated works.

Decisions
1. Both appeals are dismissed.
Main Issue
2. The main issue is whether the proposed extension would preserve the special
architectural and historic interest of the Grade II listed cottage.
Reasons
3. Warblers Cottage is a two-storey 17th century timber-framed, thatch-roofed
dwelling with a single-storey side extension to its eastern side built in the
1940s also with a thatched roof. It is a good example of a narrow span linear
form thatched cottage of modest proportions typical of this rural part of
Hampshire. Set back from the cottage on the plot’s western boundary is a more
recent timber-faced two-storey detached garage building with residential
accommodation on the first floor.
4. The main part of the proposed extension would be behind the rear wall of the
1940s extension, parallel with and approximately the same depth as the
detached garage. It would be attached to this extension only by a narrow
mainly glazed link, such that it would resemble a free-standing barn especially
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 81

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Appeal Decisions APP/C1760/W/19/3232988, APP/C1760/Y/19/3232988

given its elevations would be clad in horizontal timber weatherboarding and its
roof in plain clay tiles.
5. However, it would be considerably wider than the span of the cottage and the
width of the detached garage. Half its width would project beyond the eastern
gable of the listed building and it would be clearly visible when looking at the
front of the cottage. It would be prominent from Chapel Lane to the east
because of its depth, scale and bulk when viewed next to the gable elevation of
the cottage and the existing extension.
6. As such it would not be either physically or visually subsidiary to the listed
cottage. Whilst it would be located to the rear it would still dominate the
proportions and plan form of the existing vernacular cottage, which originally
was more than likely occupied by an agricultural worker in the vicinity.
7. There is no evidence that this modest cottage was part of a larger farmstead
and the presence of such a large extension resembling a barn therefore has no
historic precedent. Although well designed in itself and of an acceptable height,
such a large extension would unacceptably dominate the modest proportions
and plan form of the listed cottage and hence harm its significance as a listed
building; it would simply be too big. This harm would be ‘less than substantial’
in terms of paragraph 196 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).
8. Such harm is required to be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal
including, where appropriate, securing the listed building’s optimum viable use.
The cottage has always been a dwelling and its residential accommodation has
been increased by the availability of the first floor of the detached garage,
albeit this building is detached from the house and so its usefulness in practice
may be limited. The original cottage has already been extended to create a
total of three habitable rooms on the ground floor and there are two bedrooms
and a bathroom on the first floor, enough habitable space to make it a viable
dwelling.
9. I understand the appellants’ desire to create a larger kitchen/dining room and
larger bedroom. But that cannot be at the cost of compromising the
significance of the listed building itself and it cannot be said to be necessary to
secure the optimum residential use of the cottage, which has existed as such
for over three hundred years. The economic benefits of construction identified
by the appellants would be so minor as to be inconsequential and the
biodiversity enhancements could be achieved without building the extension.
Consequently, I am not persuaded that there would be any significant public
benefits arising from the proposal. Even if I was to accept that the proposal
would make the dwelling more viable as a family house, any such benefits
would fail to outweigh the harm to the listed building.
10. I am required by statute to have special regard to the desirability of preserving
the listed building or any features of special architectural or historic interest
which it possesses.1 NPPF paragraph 184 states that heritage assets are an
irreplaceable resource and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to
their significance. Paragraph 193 states that great weight should be given to
assets’ conservation even if there is only ‘less than substantial’ harm, and
paragraph 194 states that any harm requires clear and convincing justification.
Policy E9 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) requires
1

S16(2) & S66(1) Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 82

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Appeal Decisions APP/C1760/W/19/3232988, APP/C1760/Y/19/3232988

development affecting a heritage asset to sustain or enhance the asset’s
significance, taking account of its character, appearance and setting. For the
above reasons the proposal would fail to comply with these requirements.
11. I acknowledge that there are six letters of support to the proposal from near
neighbours and that no objection was raised by the Parish Council. However,
these comments do not gainsay the clear harm to the significance of the listed
cottage.
12. For the reasons given above I conclude that the appeals should be dismissed.

Nick Fagan
INSPECTOR

3

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 83

Cott

ge

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

s
a ge

Cot
ta

rk s

4

o
terw
Wa

Bee
ch
Cot
tag
e

1

Burwood

RO
A

D

Silverlea

NEW

Tytherley

The Haven

Forsythia
Warblers
Cottage
Willowbrook
Bramble Bank

Wealden

CHAPEL LANE

Elizabethan

The

Cottage

Old
Chapel
The Hedges

Pond Cottage

Sunnyhill

Sunningdale

N

Siteplan

REPRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING
WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF
HER MAJESTY’S STATIONERY OFFICER © CROWN COPYRIGHT.
UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT
AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.
TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL LICENCE No. 100024295 2013

21/02904/FULLS
Page 84

0

4

8

Test12Valley Borough
- Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021
16 Council20m

Scale -1:200

N

9136
EXTENSION33826

32580

6906

32980

EXTENSION

32430

5374
EXTENSION

New 1.5m
wicker fence
2no. new fruit trees
& new yew hedge

Extend gravel
drive

Site Plan as Proposed
1 : 200

project

Warblers Cottage
Chapel Lane
Timsbury SO51 0NW

client

Mr & Mrs Savage

drawing

Site Plan as Proposed
date

Rev.

Description

Date

scale

Page 85

410 The Grange, Romsey Road, Michelmersh, Romsey, SO51 0AE
This drawing is copyright of Crafted Architects Ltd.

Sept 2021
1 : 200 @A3

job

2130

dwg

D-111

rev.

01794 400311 jules@craftedarchitects.co.uk

2

Scale -1:100

0

Page 86

N

Garage

Utility/Boot
Room

New retaining wall

1 : 50

Ground Floor Plan as Proposed

Raised
terrace

32980

Snug

32280

Kitchen

Dining Room

R/L

1 : 100

32580

10m

North Elevation as Proposed

8

1 : 100

6

South Elevation as Proposed

4

Living Room

32580

33050

33826

32580

1 : 50

Section through living space

1 : 100

Scale -1:50

0

1

West Elevation as Proposed

1 : 100

East Elevation as Proposed

2

3

4

5m

This drawing is copyright of Crafted Architects Ltd.

Plans, Elevations & Sections as Proposed
drawing

dwg

job

scale

date

D-230

rev.

Sept 2021
1:100/1:50
@A1
2130

Date

01794 400311 jules@craftedarchitects.co.uk

Mr & Mrs Savage

Warblers Cottage
Chapel Lane
Timsbury SO51 0NW

Description

client

project

Rev.

410 The Grange, Romsey Road, Michelmersh, Romsey, SO51 0AE

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Page 87

N

Car Port

1 : 100

Ground Floor Plan as Existing

1 : 100

First Floor Plan as Existing

Studio

WC

Kitchen

Bedroom 1

C'bd

C'bd

Bedroom 2

Dining Room

Bathroom

Living Room

1 : 100

1 : 100

Garage - East Elevation as Existing

1 : 100

1 : 100

Garage - North Elevation as Existing

Garage - South Elevation as Existing

1 : 100

Garage - West Elevation as Existing

South Elevation as Existing

1 : 100

2

4

6

Plans and Elevations as Existing
drawing

This drawing is copyright of Crafted Architects Ltd.

Mr & Mrs Savage

Warblers Cottage
Chapel Lane
Timsbury SO51 0NW

Description

client

project

Rev.

410 The Grange, Romsey Road, Michelmersh, Romsey, SO51 0AE

Scale -1:100

0

1 : 100

1 : 100

East Elevation as Existing

West Elevation as Existing

North Elevation as Existing

10m

dwg

D-210

2130
rev.

1 : 100 @A2
scale
job

Sept 2021
date

Date

01794 400311 jules@craftedarchitects.co.uk

8

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

ITEM 13

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL
AMENDMENTS
CASE OFFICER

21/02905/LBWS
LISTED BUILDING WORKS - SOUTH
05.10.2021
Mr and Mrs Savage
Warblers Cottage, Chapel Lane, Timsbury, SO51
0NW, MICHELMERSH AND TIMSBURY
Alterations and single storey extension
None
Ms Kate Levey

Background paper (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
Delegated Report. The application has been called to Southern Area Planning
Committee at the request of a member.

2.0
2.1

SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION
The application site is a detached, Grade II listed two storey dwelling located
on the north side of Chapel Lane in the settlement area of Timsbury. The
existing property also includes a two storey garage outbuilding in close
proximity to the side (west) and rear (north) elevation of the main dwelling.

3.0
3.1

PROPOSAL
The proposal is for the erection of a two storey extension measuring
approximately 9.1 metres by 6.9 metres by 5 metres. The proposed
development would adjoin the rear (north) elevation of the existing dwelling at
eastern end, through the erection of a single storey link, measuring
approximately 0.7 metres by 1.5 metres by 3.9 metres.

4.0
4.1

HISTORY
Dismissed appeal: APP/C1760/W/19/3232988 relating to 19/00301/FULLS.

4.2

Dismissed appeal: APP/C1760/Y/19/323984 relating to 19/00302/LBWS.

4.3

19/00301/FULLS Erection of two storey rear extension to provide additional
living, and associated works. Refuse 18.04.2019

4.4

19/00302/LBWS - Erection of two storey rear extension to provide additional
living, and associated works. Refuse 18.04.2019

4.5

18/00636/LBWS - Minor crack repair to front elevation and to the inside of the
front porch; painting front elevation and exterior and interior of porch. Consent
subject to conditions and notes, decision issued on 18.04.2019.

Page 88

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

4.6

17/02436/LBWS - Two storey linked extension to rear of the building to provide
kitchen and lounge diner with bedroom and bathroom accommodation over,
alterations to the layout of existing listed building, and levelling and
refurbishment of floor, alterations and conversion of garage into
office/workshop on the ground floor and bedroom on the first floor, including
conversion of external staircase to balcony, and erection of covered walkway.
Application withdrawn on 20.11.2017.

4.7

17/02435/FULLS - Two storey linked extension to rear of the building to
provide kitchen and lounge diner with bedroom and bathroom accommodation
over, alterations and conversion of garage into office/workshop on the ground
floor and bedroom on the first floor, including conversion of external staircase
to balcony, erection of covered walkway from existing cottage to existing
garage, and erection of detached garage/store. Application withdrawn on
20.11.2017.

4.8

TVS.09426 - Replacement of existing garage and potting shed with oak framed
garage, potting shed and garden store and studio at first floor level. Permission
subject to conditions and notes.

5.0
5.1

CONSULTATIONS
Conservation – at the time of writing this report no comment has yet been
received, however this will be included within the update paper.

5.2

Ecology – at the time of writing this report no comment has yet been received,
however this will be included within the update paper.

5.3

Trees - at the time of writing this report no comment has yet been received,
however this will be included within the update paper.

6.0
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS Expired 05.11.2021
At the time of writing this report no representations have been received

7.0
7.1

POLICY
Government Guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas Act) 1990

7.2

Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)(TVBRLP)
Policy E5: Biodiversity
Policy E9: Heritage

7.3

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD)
Michelmersh and Timsbury Village Design Statement (2001)

8.0
8.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main planning considerations are:
 Heritage
 Biodiversity

Page 89

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

8.2

Heritage
Sections 16(2) and 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990 require special regard to be had to the desirability of
preserving the listed building or its setting or any features of special
architectural or historical interest which it possesses.

8.3

In relation to the assessment of the proposal on designated heritage assets,
Paragraph 193 of the NPPF sets out that great weight should be given to the
assets conservation, stating as follows:
When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of
the heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation
(and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is
irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total
loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.

8.4

Furthermore, paragraph 196 of the NPPF asserts that any harm to the
significance of the heritage asset should be weighed against any public
benefits:
Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed
against the public benefits of the proposal, including, where appropriate,
securing its optimum viable use.

8.5

In addition, Policy E9 of the TVBRLP is pertinent to development affecting
heritage assets and states as follows:
Development and/or works affecting a heritage asset will be permitted provided
that:
a) it would make a positive contribution to sustaining or enhancing the
significance of the heritage asset taking account of its character,
appearance and setting; and
b) the significance of the heritage asset has informed the proposal through
an assessment proportionate to its importance.

8.6

In this instance, the host property is a Grade II listed dwelling and in addition,
the neighbouring properties to the west, Wealden and Elizabethan Cottage are
also Grade II listed. Therefore, it is necessary to consider the impact of the
proposal on the historical significance of these designated heritage assets.

8.7

Assessment of the impact on Warblers Cottage
Warblers Cottage is listed at Grade II and comprises a 17th century timberframed building with brick repairs and a brick extension to the eastern end,
added in the 1940s. The existing building is mostly painted, although some of
the later brickwork is exposed. With the exception of the 1940s extension,
which is single-storey, the cottage is 1 and half storeys under a thatched roof
with eyebrow dormers. There is a gabled tiled brick porch roof with an old
plank door in the centre of the front elevation and chimney stacks on either
end.

Page 90

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

8.8

It is considered that one of the historical significant characteristics of the
cottage is its form, both in terms of its modest size and that it has been largely
unaltered, remaining as a simple linear building. However, survival of this plan
form is rare and therefore where it has not been compromised as in this case
here, it is important that the existing plan form is conserved. In relation to this
consideration, it is noted that Warblers Cottage was listed as a nationally
important example of a building of its type. The 1940s extension adjoining the
side (east) elevation is modest and follows the building line, which keeps its
impact to a minimum. So few buildings of this type have survived so unaltered,
and this rarity makes it all the more important it is preserved.

8.9

For this reason, it would be very difficult to extend the building through a rear
(north) projection without harming its significance. The extension as proposed
is not considered acceptable, as this would fundamentally alter the character of
the cottage from being linear to an ‘L’. As a result of the proposed layout and
siting of the development, the proposal serves to erode the historically
significant plan form of the building, adversely impacting its special interest.

8.10

In addition to the direct impact on the cottage, the proposed extension would
also have an effect on its setting, especially as it would be visible in views of
the front of the building from Chapel Lane. Traditionally, it would not possible
to see a rear extension in context with the front elevation. The visibility of the
proposed extension from the front draws attention to the size of the extension,
and prevents it appearing subservient because it appears too large to be
hidden by the host building. As a result, the proposed extension affects all
areas of the listed cottage, including the principle elevation whereas a more
proportionate rear extension would at least be screened by the building from
the front. Consequently, there is harm to the appearance of the whole of the
cottage and for the purposes of the NPPF, this harm is considered to be less
than substantial.

8.11

In addition, it is not considered that the proposal assumes a wholly ‘traditional’
appearance although it is proposed to be finished in weather boarding, which
is common for ancillary buildings in this area. However, the proposed glazing
present including the apex window in the rear (north) elevation, the domestic
style of the other windows, and the large amount of glazing on the side (west)
elevation, the glass within the roof of the link and the form of the building
cumulatively prevent the proposal from assuming a convincing appearance as
an outbuilding. The proposed detailing and materials of the extension draws
more attention to it, detracting from the setting of the historic cottage and again
resulting in adverse harm considered to be less than substantial.

8.12

The existing property may well have been some form of agricultural labourer’s
dwelling, however, it is unlikely that it was ever a farmstead in its own right
given its style and modest size. The historic mapping does not appear to show
any outbuildings associated with it. Consequently, there is no precedent for
barn-type buildings, as the style of the proposed extension might be argued to
be, in this location, and it would either be an incongruous feature or would

Page 91

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

have the potential to be misleading. Either would be harmful to appreciating
the special interest of the site especially combined with the existing outbuilding
which does not serve to set a precedent for extensions to the cottage or other
buildings on site.
8.13

It is noted that the proposed extension would be attached to the 1940s
extension by a narrow link and would therefore not conceal or damage any
historic fabric. As such, the proposal is considered to have a neutral impact on
the historic fabric of the designated heritage asset.

8.14

With regard to any potential public benefits to outweigh the harm identified, as
directed by the NPPF, this has not been demonstrated. It is acknowledged that
the use of the existing property to serve a local housing need would constitute
a public benefit. However, it is understood from the supporting statement and
previous planning history (application reference 18/00636/LBWS), that the
cottage has recently been repaired and refurbished. However, it does not
appear the need for work resulted from the cottage not being viable as a
dwelling and having therefore remained unoccupied for a protracted period
with associated decay. Rather, the building was in the same ownership for a
protracted period, and very little significant work has been done to it for some
time.

8.15

The existing dwelling comprises two bedrooms, two reception rooms, a
kitchen, and an upstairs bathroom. It would be difficult, therefore, to argue it is
not a viable dwelling not capable of serving a local housing need in its current
state. The property has also benefitted from a substantial outbuilding to the
left, which provides additional domestic accommodation. If a case for the site
needing to increase its offer can be made, then options for improving and
potentially extending, the existing outbuilding would be preferable to
extensions to the cottage and subject to appropriate detailing avoid the harm to
the designated heritage asset incurred by the current proposal.

8.16

The Inspector’s recent decision for the appeals (APP/C1760/W/19/3232988
and APP/C1760/Y/19/323984) are important material considerations. The
Inspector commented in paragraph 6 of the decision notice that due the scale
and design of the proposed extension would not ‘be either physically or visually
subsidiary to the listed cottage. Whilst it would be located to the rear it would
still dominate the proportions and plan form of the existing vernacular cottage’.
The Inspector did not find any significant public benefit arising from the
proposal and that securing a more viable family house would not outweigh the
harm to the listed building. As a result, the Inspector concluded that the
proposal would fail to comply with the requirements of policy E9, and the
appeals were dismissed.

8.17

Consequently, as a result of the assessment above it is considered that the
proposed extension would, by reason of its size, design, siting, use of
materials and impact on the building’s plan form, have a harmful impact on the
special interest of Warbler’s Cottage. This harm would be less than substantial
for the purposes of the NPPF and is not outweighed against any public benefit.

Page 92

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

As a result, the application is contrary to Policy COM9 of the TVBRLP in
addition to paragraph 196 of the NPPF and therefore a reason for refusal has
been attached.
8.18

Assessment of the impact on Wealden and Elizabethan Cottage
Due to the intervening distance between the siting of the proposed extension
and both listed properties of Wealden and Elizabethan Cottage, in addition to
the intervening boundary treatment it is not considered that the proposal will
adversely impact the historic significance or setting of either designated
heritage asset.

8.19

Ecology
The proposal is supported by an ecological appraisal (Pro Vision, October
2021) and the survey identified that the proposal would not adversely impact
any protected species and proposed a series of measures to enhance
biodiversity on site. No further ecological survey work is proposed. Therefore,
subject to a condition securing the implementation of the proposed
enhancement measures in the event that the proposal was acceptable, it is
considered that the application is in accordance with Policy E5 of the TVBRLP.

9.0
9.1

CONCLUSION
In light of the concerns raised regarding the impact of the proposal on the
historical significance of the identified heritage asset, the application is not
considered to comply with Policies COM2 and E9 of the Test Valley Borough
Revised Local Plan (2016). Therefore, it is recommended that planning
permission be refused.

10.0 RECOMMENDATION
REFUSE for the reason:
1.
The siting, scale, form and appearance of the proposed
development is detrimental to the special architectural and historic
importance of the heritage asset and therefore, would result in
unacceptable harm to the character and appearance of the
designated heritage asset. The proposal would not result in any
public benefits to outweigh this harm. As such, the proposal is
considered to be contrary to Policies E9 and COM2 of the Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016), in addition to paragraph
196 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
Note to applicant:
1.
In reaching this decision Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) has
had regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and takes a
positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused
on solutions. TVBC work with applicants and their agents in a
positive and proactive manner offering a pre-application advice
service and updating applicants/agents of issues that may arise in
dealing with the application and where possible suggesting
solutions.

Page 93

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Appeal Decisions
Site visit made on 15 October 2019
by Nick Fagan BSc (Hons) DipTP MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government
Decision date: 4th November 2019

Appeal Ref: APP/C1760/W/19/3232988
Warblers Cottage, Chapel Lane, Timsbury, Romsey, Hampshire SO51 0NW
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by Mr and Mrs Roger and Mary Savage against the decision of Test
Valley Borough Council.
The application Ref 19/00301/FULLS, dated 8 February 2019, was refused by notice
dated 18 April 2019.
The development proposed is erection of a two-storey rear extension and associated
works.

Appeal Ref: APP/C1760/Y/19/3232984
Warblers Cottage, Chapel Lane, Timsbury, Romsey, Hampshire SO51 0NW
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 20 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990 against a refusal to grant listed building consent.
The appeal is made by Mr and Mrs Roger and Mary Savage against the decision of Test
Valley Borough Council.
The application Ref 19/00302/LBWS, dated 8 February 2019, was refused by notice
dated 18 April 2019.
The works proposed are erection of a two-storey rear extension and associated works.

Decisions
1. Both appeals are dismissed.
Main Issue
2. The main issue is whether the proposed extension would preserve the special
architectural and historic interest of the Grade II listed cottage.
Reasons
3. Warblers Cottage is a two-storey 17th century timber-framed, thatch-roofed
dwelling with a single-storey side extension to its eastern side built in the
1940s also with a thatched roof. It is a good example of a narrow span linear
form thatched cottage of modest proportions typical of this rural part of
Hampshire. Set back from the cottage on the plot’s western boundary is a more
recent timber-faced two-storey detached garage building with residential
accommodation on the first floor.
4. The main part of the proposed extension would be behind the rear wall of the
1940s extension, parallel with and approximately the same depth as the
detached garage. It would be attached to this extension only by a narrow
mainly glazed link, such that it would resemble a free-standing barn especially
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 94

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Appeal Decisions APP/C1760/W/19/3232988, APP/C1760/Y/19/3232988

given its elevations would be clad in horizontal timber weatherboarding and its
roof in plain clay tiles.
5. However, it would be considerably wider than the span of the cottage and the
width of the detached garage. Half its width would project beyond the eastern
gable of the listed building and it would be clearly visible when looking at the
front of the cottage. It would be prominent from Chapel Lane to the east
because of its depth, scale and bulk when viewed next to the gable elevation of
the cottage and the existing extension.
6. As such it would not be either physically or visually subsidiary to the listed
cottage. Whilst it would be located to the rear it would still dominate the
proportions and plan form of the existing vernacular cottage, which originally
was more than likely occupied by an agricultural worker in the vicinity.
7. There is no evidence that this modest cottage was part of a larger farmstead
and the presence of such a large extension resembling a barn therefore has no
historic precedent. Although well designed in itself and of an acceptable height,
such a large extension would unacceptably dominate the modest proportions
and plan form of the listed cottage and hence harm its significance as a listed
building; it would simply be too big. This harm would be ‘less than substantial’
in terms of paragraph 196 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).
8. Such harm is required to be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal
including, where appropriate, securing the listed building’s optimum viable use.
The cottage has always been a dwelling and its residential accommodation has
been increased by the availability of the first floor of the detached garage,
albeit this building is detached from the house and so its usefulness in practice
may be limited. The original cottage has already been extended to create a
total of three habitable rooms on the ground floor and there are two bedrooms
and a bathroom on the first floor, enough habitable space to make it a viable
dwelling.
9. I understand the appellants’ desire to create a larger kitchen/dining room and
larger bedroom. But that cannot be at the cost of compromising the
significance of the listed building itself and it cannot be said to be necessary to
secure the optimum residential use of the cottage, which has existed as such
for over three hundred years. The economic benefits of construction identified
by the appellants would be so minor as to be inconsequential and the
biodiversity enhancements could be achieved without building the extension.
Consequently, I am not persuaded that there would be any significant public
benefits arising from the proposal. Even if I was to accept that the proposal
would make the dwelling more viable as a family house, any such benefits
would fail to outweigh the harm to the listed building.
10. I am required by statute to have special regard to the desirability of preserving
the listed building or any features of special architectural or historic interest
which it possesses.1 NPPF paragraph 184 states that heritage assets are an
irreplaceable resource and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to
their significance. Paragraph 193 states that great weight should be given to
assets’ conservation even if there is only ‘less than substantial’ harm, and
paragraph 194 states that any harm requires clear and convincing justification.
Policy E9 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) requires
1

S16(2) & S66(1) Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 95

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Appeal Decisions APP/C1760/W/19/3232988, APP/C1760/Y/19/3232988

development affecting a heritage asset to sustain or enhance the asset’s
significance, taking account of its character, appearance and setting. For the
above reasons the proposal would fail to comply with these requirements.
11. I acknowledge that there are six letters of support to the proposal from near
neighbours and that no objection was raised by the Parish Council. However,
these comments do not gainsay the clear harm to the significance of the listed
cottage.
12. For the reasons given above I conclude that the appeals should be dismissed.

Nick Fagan
INSPECTOR

3

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 96

Cott

ge

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

s
a ge

Cot
ta

rk s

4

o
terw
Wa

Bee
ch
Cot
tag
e

1

Burwood

RO
A

D

Silverlea

NEW

Tytherley

The Haven

Forsythia
Warblers
Cottage
Willowbrook
Bramble Bank

Wealden

CHAPEL LANE

Elizabethan

The

Cottage

Old
Chapel
The Hedges

Pond Cottage

Sunnyhill

Sunningdale

N

Siteplan

REPRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING
WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF
HER MAJESTY’S STATIONERY OFFICER © CROWN COPYRIGHT.
UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT
AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.
TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL LICENCE No. 100024295 2013

21/02905/LBWS
Page 97

0

4

8

Test12Valley Borough
- Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021
16 Council20m

Scale -1:200

N

9136
EXTENSION33826

32580

6906

32980

EXTENSION

32430

5374
EXTENSION

New 1.5m
wicker fence
2no. new fruit trees
& new yew hedge

Extend gravel
drive

Site Plan as Proposed
1 : 200

project

Warblers Cottage
Chapel Lane
Timsbury SO51 0NW

client

Mr & Mrs Savage

drawing

Site Plan as Proposed
date

Rev.

Description

Date

scale

Page 98

410 The Grange, Romsey Road, Michelmersh, Romsey, SO51 0AE
This drawing is copyright of Crafted Architects Ltd.

Sept 2021
1 : 200 @A3

job

2130

dwg

D-111

rev.

01794 400311 jules@craftedarchitects.co.uk

2

Scale -1:100

0

Page 99

N

Garage

Utility/Boot
Room

New retaining wall

1 : 50

Ground Floor Plan as Proposed

Raised
terrace

32980

Snug

32280

Kitchen

Dining Room

R/L

1 : 100

32580

10m

North Elevation as Proposed

8

1 : 100

6

South Elevation as Proposed

4

Living Room

32580

33050

33826

32580

1 : 50

Section through living space

1 : 100

Scale -1:50

0

1

West Elevation as Proposed

1 : 100

East Elevation as Proposed

2

3

4

5m

This drawing is copyright of Crafted Architects Ltd.

Plans, Elevations & Sections as Proposed
drawing

dwg

job

scale

date

D-230

rev.

Sept 2021
1:100/1:50
@A1
2130

Date

01794 400311 jules@craftedarchitects.co.uk

Mr & Mrs Savage

Warblers Cottage
Chapel Lane
Timsbury SO51 0NW

Description

client

project

Rev.

410 The Grange, Romsey Road, Michelmersh, Romsey, SO51 0AE

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

Page 100

N

Car Port

1 : 100

Ground Floor Plan as Existing

1 : 100

First Floor Plan as Existing

Studio

WC

Kitchen

Bedroom 1

C'bd

C'bd

Bedroom 2

Dining Room

Bathroom

Living Room

1 : 100

1 : 100

Garage - East Elevation as Existing

1 : 100

1 : 100

Garage - North Elevation as Existing

Garage - South Elevation as Existing

1 : 100

Garage - West Elevation as Existing

South Elevation as Existing

1 : 100

2

4

6

Plans and Elevations as Existing
drawing

This drawing is copyright of Crafted Architects Ltd.

Mr & Mrs Savage

Warblers Cottage
Chapel Lane
Timsbury SO51 0NW

Description

client

project

Rev.

410 The Grange, Romsey Road, Michelmersh, Romsey, SO51 0AE

Scale -1:100

0

1 : 100

1 : 100

East Elevation as Existing

West Elevation as Existing

North Elevation as Existing

10m

dwg

D-210

2130
rev.

1 : 100 @A2
scale
job

Sept 2021
date

Date

01794 400311 jules@craftedarchitects.co.uk

8

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 23 November 2021

